
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Thursday, 1st November, 2018

10.00 am

Darent Room - Sessions House





AGENDA

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Thursday, 1st November, 2018, at 10.00 am Ask for: Theresa Grayell
Darent Room - Sessions House

Telephone 03000 416172
Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the meeting 

Membership 

Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Ms J Bayford, Mr T Byrne, Mr G Cooke, Mr T Doran, 
Mr J Dumigan, Ms S Dunstan, Mr D Farrell, Ms L Fisher, Mrs L Game, Mrs S Gent, 
Ms C Goodwin, Mr R Graves, Mr S Gray, Mr S Griffiths, Ms S Hamilton, Mrs S Hammond, 
Mr A Heather, Ida Linfield, Mr G Lymer, Mr M J Northey, Mrs S Prendergast, Ms N Sayer, 
Ms C Smith, Ms S Vaux and rep

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open the public)

1 Membership 
The Panel is asked to note that VSK Apprentices Tom Byrne and Chelsea 
Goodwin have joined the Panel and that Chloe-Elizabeth Mutton has completed 
her apprenticeship and so has left the Panel.    

2 Apologies and substitutes 
To receive apologies for absence and notification of any substitutes present

3 Election of Vice-Chairman 
To elect a Vice-Chairman of the Corporate Parenting Panel 

4 Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 19 September 2018 (Pages 5 - 12)
To consider and approve the minutes as a correct record

5 Meeting Dates 2019/20 



The Panel  is asked to note that the following dates have been reserved for its 
meetings in 2019/20: 

Wednesday 29 May 2019                 
Thursday 25 July 2019                      
Tuesday 17 September 2019 
Friday 22 November 2019
Tuesday 18 February 2020               
Thursday 2 April 2020                       
Friday 29 May 2020                          

All meetings will take place at County Hall, Maidstone, and will commence at 
10.00 am 

6 Chairman's Announcements 

7 Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 

8 Verbal Update by Cabinet Member (Page 17)

9 Challenge Card Update (Pages 19 - 20)

10 Performance Scorecard for Children in Care (Pages 21 - 30)

11 The Corporate Parenting Annual Report September 2018 (Pages 31 - 50)

12 Update on Mind Of My Own App for Children in Care and Care Leavers (Pages 
51 - 62)

13 Independent Reviewing Service Annual Report 2017/2018 (Pages 63 - 88)

14 Children in Care with Education Health and Care Plans (EHCP) exclusions 
(Pages 89 - 92)

EXEMPT ITEMS
(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such items 

which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public)

Benjamin Watts
General Counsel
03000 416814

Wednesday, 24 October 2018

Please note that any background documents referred to in the accompanying papers 
maybe inspected by arrangement with the officer responsible for preparing the relevant 
report.



KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

MINUTES of a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel held in Darent Room - 
Sessions House on Wednesday, 19 September 2018.

PRESENT: Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Ms J Bayford, Mr D L Brazier 
(Substitute for Mr G Cooke), Mr T Doran, Mr J Dumigan, Ms S Dunstan, Mr D Farrell, 
Ms L Fisher, Mr S Gray, Ms S Hamilton, Mrs S Hammond, Mr M J Northey, 
Mrs S Prendergast, Ms N Sayer and Ms C Smith

ALSO PRESENT: Mr R W Gough

IN ATTENDANCE: Mr M Dunkley CBE (Corporate Director for Children Young 
People and Education), Ms J Carpenter (School Bursar and Project Officer, Virtual 
School Kent) and Miss T A Grayell (Democratic Services Officer)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
96. Membership 
(Item 1)

The Panel noted a number of changes to its membership since the last meeting: 

 Ida Linfield had replaced Trudy Dean

 Sue Dunn had retired from the County Council so had left the Panel

 Teresa Carpenter was no longer a Kent Foster Carer so had left the Panel

 Julianne Bayford and Justin Dumigan, Foster Carers, had joined as new Panel 
members

97. Apologies and substitutes 
(Item 2)

1. Apologies for absence were received from Gary Cooke, Sue Gent, Reece 
Graves, Stuart Griffiths, Ida Linfield and Chloe-Elizabeth Mutton.  

2. David Brazier was present as a substitute for Gary Cooke. 

98. Election of Vice-Chairman 
(Item 3)

1. The Chairman proposed that, due to the number of recent membership 
changes and the absence of a number of Panel members from the meeting, the 
Election of a new Vice-Chairman be deferred until the November meeting.  

2. This was generally agreed.

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



99. Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 19 July 2018 
(Item 4)

It was RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 19 July 2018 are correctly 
recorded and they be signed by the Chairman. There were no matters arising. 

100. Chairman's Announcements 
(Item 5)

1. The Chairman announced that Caitlin Deveraux from the Department for 
Education was attending the meeting as an observer, and welcomed Ms Deveraux to 
the meeting. 

2. The Chairman also welcomed Julianne Bayford and Justin Dumigan to their 
first meeting as new members of the Panel. 

101. Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 
(Item 6)

1. Sophia Dunstan, Participation Support Assistant, Virtual School Kent (VSK), 
and Jo Carpenter, School Bursar and Project Officer, Virtual School Kent, gave a 
verbal update on the work of the OCYPC, the Super Council and the Young Adult 
Council and forthcoming participation events. They circulated some pictures of recent 
activity days and the recent VSK awards ceremony and thanked those who had 
attended the ceremony. The text of these updates will be appended to these minutes. 
With Mr Doran, Head Teacher of the VSK, they then responded to comments and 
questions from the Panel, including the following: 

a) the establishment of a boys’ pilot support group was welcomed, to mirror 
the girls’ groups.  It was good that these groups were available to support 
young people in whatever way they wanted to express themselves;   

b) the success of the several children in care recently going to university was 
welcomed. It was important that young people be supported to take up a 
university place if they wished to, and also to support others to realise that 
this was a possibility for them. Many young people historically had been 
told that this was not an option for someone in care. Young people 
securing a place but worried about affording accommodation would be 
supported by the County Council’s new rent guarantor scheme. Mr Doran 
added that VSK had a social mobility plan to support children in care to 
attend grammar schools and were doing much work to extend this to 
university attendance;

c) it would be good to start encouraging children from primary school onwards 
to aspire to further and higher education, starting with an expectation that 
they would sit the Kent Test. Encouraging children in this way was part of 
the role of a good foster carer; and

d) foster children who had attended VSK activity days had been much 
inspired by the care leavers they met there, which showed what a great 
value the VSK Participation Team had as role models who encouraged 
children in care to network and gain confidence.  Mr Doran added that one 

Page 6



former child in care, aged 19, had written and illustrated a book, which had 
recently been published, with the aim of encouraging other young people in 
care;

2. Ms Carpenter advised the Panel that work was in hand to expand the 
membership of the Recruit Crew, which attended and participated at interview panels 
for social workers, foster carers and adopters.  To help young people to play a larger 
part in these panels, meetings would be scheduled to avoid school and college times.  
The Chairman added that meetings of the Corporate Parenting Panel would also be 
scheduled in school holidays wherever possible. 

3. It was RESOLVED that the verbal updates be noted, with thanks. 

102. Verbal Update by Cabinet Member 
(Item 7)

1. The Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Education, Roger 
Gough, gave a verbal update on the following issues:-

Change for Kent Children – as part of a national programme, this would include a 
series of projects around the county to address key challenges for children in care, 
such as closer integration of social care and early help services, integration work with 
schools, placement stability, better risk management, recruitment and retention of 
foster carers and academic attainment of children in care.  The aim was to establish 
new models for these work areas by April 2019, as part of an improvement of 
services for young people.  Mr Gough undertook to update the Panel on this work as 
it progressed.
Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children (UASC) update – so far in 2018 there 
had been only 108 new arrivals, with a slight rise over the warmer summer months, 
as was usually expected.  Most had come from Eritrea, Ethiopia and Sudan. Kent 
currently had 244 UASC under 18 and 887 care leavers of 18+. As expected, more 
would attain care leaver status in January, as 1 January each year was given as a 
date of birth for UASC arriving who did not know, or would not give, their date of birth. 
Virtual School Kent (VSK) Awards Day – Mr Gough said how much he had 
enjoyed the awards day, and how much he knew young people had also enjoyed it. 
He thanked Sophia Dunstan, Jo Carpenter and the VSK team for their work in 
organising the event.  This year saw the first young people to have completed 100 
hours with the Young People’s University.  

2. It was RESOLVED that the verbal updates be noted, with thanks. 

103. Performance Scorecard for Children in Care 
(Item 8)

1. Caroline Smith, Interim Assistant Director, Corporate Parenting, introduced the 
report and highlighted that most performance was rated green and was moving in the 
right direction.  She thanked Nancy Sayer, Designated Nurse for Looked After 
Children, for the joint working which had improved the recording of health data.  

2. In response to a question about the number of children excluded from school 
who had additional needs, Mr Doran explained that this data was recorded and 
undertook to supply this information to the Panel at its next meeting. 

Page 7



3.   It was RESOLVED that the performance data in the children in care scorecard 
be noted, with thanks. 

104. Report on children and young people in Cookham Wood Young Offenders 
Institute (YOI) and Medway Secure Training Centre (STC) 
(Item 9)

1. Louise Fisher, Head of Kent Youth Justice Service and Head of Service for 
Early Help (South Kent), introduced the report and highlighted key points, as follows:-

i. all young people in the youth custody system last year were boys; 
ii. Cookham Wood and Medway STC had both recently been inspected and 

had improved since past inspections. The regime at Medway STC had 
been commended for improvements to make it more like a school 
environment, such as all boys eating together and having recreation time 
on a grassed area;

iii. all young people in custody would have an allocated youth worker, and 
some also had social workers; 

iv. education and health care provision had improved, with boys being able to 
get help when their education had been interrupted; and

v. plans for a young person’s resettlement were started as soon as they were 
sentenced, so the plan was clear from the outset. 

2. Ms Fisher responded to comments and questions from the Panel, including 
the following:-

a) the number of young people in custody in Kent had decreased dramatically 
in the last ten years, from 125 to 24. The Youth Justice Board had given 
local authorities resources for diversionary work to protect young people at 
risk of being taken into custody.  Although there were now fewer, those in 
custody had more complex needs and required more time and one-to-one 
work to achieve successful rehabilitation; 

b) the effectiveness of the work of the Youth Justice system in improving the 
lives and prospects of young people was praised;

c) the frequency of reports on this subject to the Panel was discussed and an 
annual pattern was favoured; 

d) a concern was raised about the potential role Corporate Parents could play 
in supporting young people in custody; 

e) asked about ongoing contact with a young person’s family, once they had 
been taken into custody, Ms Fisher explained that many young people who 
had families would return to them once their sentence and their child in 
care status had ended.  Family members were also actively involved in 
meetings; and

f) the recruitment of a Youth Justice Apprentice was welcomed and it was 
hoped that this apprentice could attend a future Panel meeting.    

  

Page 8



3. It was RESOLVED that the support and safeguarding of children and young 
people in custody be welcomed, with interest, and the new Youth Justice 
Apprentice, when appointed, be invited to attend a future meeting of the 
Panel. 

105. Annual Report 2017 to 2018 - Adoption Services 
(Item 10)

1. Sarah Skinner, Head of Adoption Service, introduced the report and 
responded to comments and questions from the Panel, including: 

a) asked about the comparison between Kent’s adoption figures and the 
national picture, Mrs Skinner explained that the number of adoption 
placements made nationally had reduced, while Kent had increased its 
number of approved adopters. Adopters could be single, married, in a civil 
partnership or divorced. During 2017-18, Kent exceeded Government 
targets for children who have been adopted, including the four-month 
target for the time between an Adoption Plan being agreed and a suitable 
adopter being identified;

b) asked about the Foster to Adopt scheme, Mrs Skinner explained that 
Foster to Adopt was a scheme whereby prospective adopters could be 
assessed and approved as adopters but also foster carers. If a baby or 
very young child’s care plan were one of adoption, and all family members 
had been assessed and felt not suitable to adopt the child, a Foster to 
Adopt placement can be sought, so the child should not return to his or her 
birth parents. This would reduce the need for the child to move in the 
future. The risk was that, having made such a placement, the Court may 
not agree with the local authority’s plan of adoption and the child may be 
removed from the placement. Such cases were rare, however, and out of 
40 placements in the last year, only two children had returned to their birth 
families.  Foster carers wishing to adopt would be trained for that purpose;

c) foster carers on the Panel spoke of their varied experiences with children 
going on to be adopted, and of the difficulties of adjusting to a child with 
whom they and their family had bonded moving on.  Some adopters may 
not identify the impact that an adoption had on foster carers who might 
have been caring for a child for some time. Mrs Skinner acknowledged the 
difficulty of the transition for those involved and told the Panel about a peer 
mentoring scheme being developed in conjunction with the fostering 
service, whereby foster carers who had been through the process could 
support those experiencing a similar situation, and the plan to mirror the 
adopters’ training programme with foster carers. This initiative was 
welcomed; 

d) Mr Dunkley highlighted the need for such support work to include the 
children of foster carers, as they had also bonded with their foster siblings 
and also experienced the difficulty of being separated from them;

e) asked about the support available for post-adoption breakdown, Mrs 
Skinner explained that post-placement breakdown was rare; there had 
been 107 adoption placements in the last year and only two of these had 

Page 9



broken down. Both of these had involved sibling groups. She emphasised 
that, although Government targets guided the time taken to make a 
placement, it was important to take sufficient time over the matching 
process to make a good placement and avoid disruption;

f) pre-adoption events included peer support, and experienced adopters 
helped those who were preparing to adopt for the first time;

g) it was sometimes difficult for the County Council to keep contact with 
adopters after an Adoption Order had been made as the Council no longer 
had a formal role, and some families moved away and lost touch;

h) discussion returned to the question of elected Council Members serving on 
Adoption Panels, a subject which arose periodically when discussing the 
adoption process. Mrs Skinner advised that this had been investigated 
previously and had been judged not to be a good use of Members’ time, 
as well as involving onerous amounts of reading and preparation;

i) asked about special guardianship orders (SGOs), Mrs Skinner explained 
that an SGO would end a child’s local authority care status.  Some SGOs, 
however, did not involve local authority children in care.  Mr Doran added 
that new regulations for the Virtual School Kent meant that it would be part 
of the pathway for the SGO process, if a child had been in care prior to the 
SGO being granted; 

j) asked why fewer people were coming forward for approval as adopters, 
and if this could be due in part to the length of the process or the rigorous 
questioning of applicants, which some may find over-intrusive or off-
putting, Mrs Skinner said she was confident of the process and that 
questioning was as thorough as it needed to be to identify suitable 
candidates.  Adoption panels were chaired by people experienced in 
interviewing thoroughly but sensitively.  The County Council had been 
criticised by Ofsted in the past for taking too long over its adoption 
process, and since 2012 had sought to reduce delay.  Sometimes 
adopters asked to slow down the process, for example, if they were 
experiencing disturbance to family life due to bereavement or redundancy.  
The reduction in the number of prospective adopters coming forward could 
in part be due to changes in fertility treatment, which made it easier for 
some couples to have their own family.  Mrs Skinner reassured the Panel 
that Kent was not currently struggling to attract adopters, although other 
local authorities were; and

k) Mrs Skinner advised the Panel that National Adoption Week 2018 would 
take place on 15 to 21 October 2018. 

2. Ms Smith advised the Panel that the County Council’s Adoption Team had 
won a national award for excellence in post-adoption support. The Panel 
congratulated Mrs Skinner and her team on this achievement.

 
3. It was RESOLVED that:-

Page 10



a) the information contained within the report, and the Panel’s comments on 
the range of services provided, and their suitability to meet the needs of 
adoptees and their families, be noted; and

b) the Panel’s congratulations be passed to the Adoption team for their 
success in winning a national award for excellence in post-adoption 
support. 

106. Review of the 18 Plus Care Leavers Service 
(Item 11)

1. Paul Startup, Head of the Care Leavers’ Service, introduced the report and set 
out the changes being made to the service as a result of new guidance in the 
Children and Social Work Act 2017:-

i.    most care leavers of 21+ opted to continue receiving services from the team; 
ii.    the service was currently dealing with a substantial increase in the number   

of care leavers year on year, as many of the high number of unaccompanied 
Asylum-seeking children arriving in the county in 2015 were now reaching the 
age of 18 and attaining care leaver status; 

iii.    to cope with the above, and give greater stability and consistency, the 
service had gained a permanent management team and more personal 
advisors; 

iv.    two new service managers had been recruited, to work with UASC and 
young people transitioning from children in care to care leaver status, and 
personal advisors would be allocated earlier, to help young people to 
transition; 

v.    care leavers in custody would be given a care plan to assist their transition 
upon release;

vi.    the rent guarantor scheme had had a good take-up, and landlords were 
gradually grasping the concept of the County Council standing as guarantor; 
and

vii.    the new local offer was on target to launch in December 2018. 

2. Mr Startup and Ms Hammond, Director of Integrated Children’s Services East 
(Social Work Lead) then responded to comments and questions from the Panel, 
including the following:-

a) asked about the availability of suitable accommodation for care 
leavers, Mr Startup explained that it was sometimes difficult to find the 
right place and that, in some areas, suitable accommodation was harder to 
find and afford. Young people could not always be found a place in the 
area where they most wanted to live, but the service would always avoid 
placing a young person where they felt they would be vulnerable;

b) asked if a young person who had ‘opted out’ of the service could change 
their mind and opt back in, Mr Startup confirmed that this could be done as 
soon as a request to do so was received; 

c) Ms Hammond explained that, although there was no duty upon Borough 
and District Councils to provide accommodation for care leavers as part of 

Page 11



its housing stock, the County Council as Corporate Parent had a duty to 
ensure that all care leavers had secure and safe accommodation; and

d) Mr Startup advised that all care leavers would be sent a letter setting out 
the changes arising from the new legislation and would be sent an online 
survey in October 2018 to seek their views on the service.  The 
outcomes of that survey would be reported to a future meeting of the 
Corporate Parenting Panel.  

3.     It was RESOLVED that:-

a) the proposed structure of the 18plus Care Leaving Service, to meet the 
increasing demand of unaccompanied asylum-seeking children 
transitioning into the service, and the progress to date, be noted; and

b) the outcome of the care leavers’ survey be reported to a future meeting of 
the Corporate Parenting Panel. 

Page 12



Wednesday 19th September 2018
Corporate Parenting Panel Update-

On behalf of the Children in Care Councils and Young Adult Council

Virtual School Kent’s Award Ceremony:
 
On Sunday, VSK held their 6th annual award ceremony to celebrate the incredible achievements and 
progression that young people have made both in and out of school.

 It was a very rewarding day to see the young people getting their awards from Roger Gough & Matt 
Dunkley and see the smiles on their faces. After the first award ceremony which was our Early Years 
and key stage 1&2 children, we went outside for a lovely BBQ, games, activities and to promote the 
three Children in Care Councils, MOMO, Activity Days and the lots of other things VSK do to engage 
with Young People. 

It was so nice to meet new faces who hadn’t heard of the participation team before. After lunch we 
went back in for key stage 3&4 awards, after all the nominees collected their awards then the 
participation team talked about what we do as a team and all the fun things we engage young 
people in, it was such a lovely experience and we can’t wait to see what year brings 

Children in Care Countywide Event:

The Countywide Children in Care Celebration was held on 1st August 2018. The event was attended 
by the children in care council members and some other who wanted a taster of what the Children 
in Care Councils are about. Some members of the Corporate Parenting Panel and key staff attended 
the event and met with our young people. The purpose of the event is to bring all 3 council groups of 
different ages, (Super Council, OCYPC and YAC) together to celebrate the work they have done over 
the past year and to also work on a current topic or issue together.

The Participation Team delivered a presentation welcoming everyone and talking about what the 
Councils have been up to throughout the year. The apprentices had made a timeline, to show the 
Children in Care Councils progress throughout the years.

We then had a discussion between our tables about what is a Corporate Parent, what does a 
Corporate Parent actually mean and discussed what are the 10 things that are most important to 
young people when thinking about their corporate parents. After that we shared our points with the 
other groups and placed all the ideas on a board. Feedback included:

 Looking after health
 Consistent Communication.
 Stability and Listening
 Feeling Safe
 Support for Care Leavers
 Responsible

There were 2 key themes that were brought up repetitively they were Feeling safe, and Stability. 
Then we had a break to enjoy chocolate brownies, lemon cakes and scones with cream and jam.

Page 13



After all the cakes were finished we got in our teams for the Countywide obstacle course. The events 
were, the caterpillar, ring toss, inflatable darts and an inflatable climbing wall what ended up being 
lots of laughs and giggles. 

The Participation Team are now collating all the feedback from young people to produce a ‘Young 
Person’s Guide to Good Corporate Parenting’. A focus group has been arranged with young people 
next week to ensure they are happy with what has been put together. We then plan to have tis 
printed into a guide that will be available to all our children and young people.

We are really pleased to report that membership of the children in Care Councils continues to grow;

Number of Children in Care Council Members 2017/18:
YAC 17
OCYPC 29
Super Council 24

Membership has now reached 70 young people, and next plan is to develop a ‘virtual’ children in 
Care Council so young people who are in our care but don’t live in Kent also get opportunities to be 
involved.

Young Adult Council September Meeting Update:

One of YAC’s longest standing members is moving onto University this year, members took the 
opportunity to thank her for her contributions and wish her luck for her future studies.  

YAC helped us to finalise the questions that young people are asked when they are completing their 
section of the PEP. There are been several consultations with different groups of children and young 
people over the Summer and we are now confident we have sets of questions that young people 
want to be asked about their education. These questions will now form part of the new ePEP.

VSK Participation Team Update:

We are happy to say that our new apprentice Tia has joint the team in July along with our former 
YAC member Rob who joined us in August. They have both settled into the team well and we are 
looking forward to involving them more in the work we do. Tia made her public speaking debut on 
Sunday at the Awards Ceremony and we were all glowing with pride that she spoke in front of such a 
huge audience. 
We will be having our Mentoring Training at the end of September which will help give our team the 
right tools to give extra support to Children and Young People in Care.

Co-Production Training:

In the summer holidays we supported 3 days with our colleagues in Early Help and Headstart along 
with our Children in Care and members of their Kent Youth County Council to look at devising and 
delivering Participation and Co Production Training to ensure that all children and young people in 
Kent get a voice and that decision makers in the council are aware of the importance of this.

Page 14



The sessions were a great success with both groups coming together with ideas for the training 
sessions that will be taking place. We will be trialling our first training session this Saturday at the 
Ashford Youth Hub. 

Boy’s Group:

Following the success of the girl’s group in East Kent, ‘I’m Worth it’ in February in conjunction with 
Fostering, the Participation Team are planning a new group for teenage boys between the ages of 
13-17. Participants will be identified by recommendations by Fostering, VSK and Social workers
The boys’ group will be taking place in term 2 and will follow the same format as the previous girls’ 
group which is a 6 week programme on a Monday evenings at The Far Academy.
The Far Academy is a Community Interest Company and Social Enterprise, the boys will be designing 
and constructing their own skateboards and have skateboarding lessons. At the end of the 
programme each young person will take home their own product they have made. The programme 
will also have weekly informative talks about relevant topics such as drugs, alcohol and mental 
health. These talks will be delivered by a collaboration of the Children in Care Nurses and outside 
agencies such as Addaction and Barnardo’s. 
The intended outcomes of the programme are to increase the young person’s self-esteem, build 
their confidence, gain skills and knowledge to increase their ability to keep themselves safe. 

A further girls group will be run again after Christmas.

Kent Cares Town Website:

The VSK’s website for Children in Care and Care Leavers ‘Kent Cares Town’ has had a massive re-
vamp over the past few months. There has been lots on consultations with different groups of 
children in Care to get their views and opinions on how they would like their new website to look. At 
the VSK Awards Ceremony the audience were shown how the new website looks. It will be launching 
on the 1st October 2018.  

The new website 3 have 3 separate portals, one aged at primary aged children, one for Secondary 
and one for young people preparing to and leaving care which will host the 18+ Local Offer 
information. We believe the 3 portals will enable to keep information more relevant to want young 
people want to know at various age ranges and stages

Summer Activity Days and Events:

We had a very busy and fun summer travelling across the county putting on our activity days for our 
Young people and supporting the Adoption Family Picnic, the West Kent summer fun Day and the 
DCS Summer Fun day. We put on 9 activity days over the summer. As usual these days were a great 
success and we have received very positive feedback from children and from their carers. These are 
just a few of the things they have said:

Feedback from Carers:

"It was great fun - I loved all the activities and I made new friends"
“I want to come again, it was amazing, and I liked the people there” 
“I liked it because I met other children in care and I also got to try new things”
“I had fun with the staff, they are the best”

Page 15



Feedback from Foster Carers:
“My child had just come into care. It was so wonderful for her to meet others in the same position 
and talk! She made friends and just loved the day”
“It gives the children the opportunity to make friends in similar situations as themselves, gives them a 
sense of feeling important in a non-judgemental way in a safe confidential way. They have fun and 
learn new skills”
“Both children often refuse to TRY! when we are present, so leaving them with other children with 
the same worry of new things gave them reassurance that feeling was normal. They tried everything 
and they both said how proud they were of themselves”
“She attended her first one. She was delighted. She is the only child in her school in care and has no 
one to talk to of her age. We support at a home but it’s not the same. She was so bouncy afterwards 
and feels she’s not the only one!”
“The activity days out are great as they are well planned and organised. I always feel confident 
leaving my children with VSK workers. I also must mention the welcome my child who was an 
unaccompanied child felt. We managed to get him and another boy linked up and they both truly 
enjoyed the activities. Which brings me to the opportunities - my children have met people they 
would only see on TV! ie Paul Carter. They are beginning to understand who runs what and why. They 
know who is accountable and who to go to for help. Keep up the brilliant work!”

For our October Activities we have planned the following:

 23rd October – West/North Kent Art Activity Day
 24th October – East/South Kent OCYPC Extra
 25th October – East/South Kent Art Activity Day 
 26th October – West/North Kent OCYPC & Super Council Meeting.

We also have the VSK Post16 Awards Ceremony on Wednesday 17th October – details will be sent 
out to you this week – it would be lovely to see some of you there

Page 16



By: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and 
Education.

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 1st November 2018

Subject: Verbal Update by the Cabinet Member 

Classification: Unrestricted

The Panel is invited to note verbal updates on the following issues:-

1. Overall Children in Care figures 

2. Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children (UASC) update

3. Virtual School Kent (VSK) post-16 event

Page 17

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



From: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and 
Education

Matt Dunkley, CBE, Corporate Director for Children, Young People and 
Education

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 1st November 2018

Subject: Challenge card update

Classification: Unrestricted

Summary: This report provides Members with an overview of the progress made 
on the current challenge card that our young people have made to KCC, 
in our role as corporate parents. 

Recommendation: The Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE the 
challenge card progress to date and to support the actions being taken 
to meet the challenge.

1. New challenge card issued

A challenge card had been received from our young people who are part of Kent County 
Council’s Recruit Crew in August 2018. The challenge submitted is:

“For Kent County Council to review the timings of when interview panels are set and see 
if something could be done to better fit in with young people’s availability and schooling 
commitments to ensure that their participation isn’t disadvantaged.”

2.   Background 

2.1 Young people have advised us that they wish to get involved in helping shape the 
services they receive. One of the ways they can do this is to be involved in the 
recruitment and selection of Social Workers and other key staff. To help support this, our 
VSK Participation Team have facilitated two opportunities for recruitment and selection 
training so far in 2018, resulting in a further 18 young people aged 14+ being trained on 
an accredited course, ‘Interview Skills for Service Users’.

2.2 Since the training courses, there have continued to be many requests for our young 
people to sit on interview panels, assist at skills to foster sessions and support other staff 
training sessions. However, the timing of many of these sessions are during the school 
day, inevitably meaning that these young people are unable to attend and share their 
valuable insights.

2.3 Recruit Crew members would like to challenge their corporate parents to review, where 
possible, the timings of interview panels and other events that require young people’s 

Page 19

Agenda Item 9



participation to better fit young people’s availability.  This would enable a larger and more 
diverse group of young people to have the opportunity to get involved and have their say. 

2.4 This challenge card was taken to the Young Adult Council meeting on the 6th September 
2018, which discussed and agreed that the challenge should be put forward.

3. Challenge card process

3.1 The following activities have taken place:

 The challenge card has been presented during the Children in Care County meeting on 17th 

September 2018. During this meeting it had been presented and actions were agreed to be 
taken forward.

 A working group has now been established and is being led by Mark Thorn, Assistant 
Director for North Kent, who is the lead for Social Care staff recruitment. 
This group will include Human Resources and our Virtual School Kent apprentices to look at 
the best method to progress this challenge. The group will review the current recruitment 
arrangements and the practicalities of holding interview panels outside of school hours and 
identify other areas where our children and young people can be involved with the 
recruitment of staff and development of future services.

 A review of the dates for the Corporate Parenting Panel for 2019 has been undertaken to 
ensure there are dates within school holidays to enable our children and young people to 
attend the panel and meet their corporate parents.

4. Conclusions

4.1 A full response on the outcome of this challenge will be presented to Corporate Parenting 
Panel in January 2019.

Recommendations

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE the challenge card progress 
to date and to support the actions being taken to meet the challenge.

5. Background documents

None.

6. Contact details

Lead Officer
Caroline Smith 
Interim Assistant Director of Corporate Parenting
03000 415 091
Caroline.Smith@kent.gov.uk 

Lead Director
Sarah Hammond
Director of Integrated Children’s Services East 
(Social Work Lead)
03000 411 488
Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk 

Page 20

mailto:Caroline.Smith@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk


By: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People 
                                   and Education

Matt Dunkley, CBE, Corporate Director for Children, Young 
                                      People and  Education

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 1st November 2018

Subject: Performance Scorecard for Children in Care

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Divisions: All

Summary:

Recommendation:

The Performance Scorecard for Children in Care identifies the key 
performance data and targets that need to be monitored to 
promote the best outcomes for children and young people looked 
after by Kent County Council. The latest performance Scorecard 
for August 2018 is attached to this report.  

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE 
and COMMENT on the performance data in the Children in Care 
scorecard.

1. Introduction 

1.1 Performance scorecards have been developed to identify and monitor progress 
on a range of areas where improvements in performance and practice will lead 
to better outcomes for children and young people.

1.2 This report includes the latest Children in Care Scorecard which is for August 
2018.  

2. Context

2.1 The Children in Care Scorecard has been developed to provide the Corporate 
Parenting Panel with an overview of the key performance measures for 
Children in Care. 

2.2 The report is split into sections and includes a range of performance indicators 
and activity information. 

2.3 The Children in Care Scorecard is currently focused on information provided by 
Children’s Social Care Services.  It is intended that performance reports from 
partners will also be shared with Corporate Parenting Panel so that 
performance issues can be further understood across organisations, resulting 
in improved outcomes for children and young people.

Page 21

Agenda Item 10



3.    Summary of Performance – August 2018

3.1 The report contains key statistics and performance results against the targets 
for 24 Key Performance Indicators (KPIs), which are assessed using a 
Red/Amber/Green (RAG) Status.

3.2 Of the 24 KPIs included in the report, the RAG status for August 2018 is as 
follows:

 13 are rated Green – target achieved or exceeded
 11 are rated Amber – below target but above floor standard
 0 are rated Red – below floor standard

3.3 The CIC Scorecard submitted to the previous Corporate Parenting Panel on 
19th September 2018 was for June 2018.  During the period between the two 
reports the RAG status of 1 KPIs changed.  The detail of this change is 
provided below: 

3.3.1 Average number of days between court authority to place a child 
and the decision on a match.  Performance for this measure 
increased from an average of 112 days in June, to 122 days in August.
The increase in the average number has been impacted upon by five 
children where the circumstances included an adoption breakdown and 
subsequent matching, a sibling group of three children and an appeal 
against the adoption order.

3.4   For the 11 KPIs rated as Amber an update on performance is provided below.

Seven of these KPIs show improved performance between June and August 
 2018:

3.4.1 CIC Placement stability: Percentage with 3 or more placements in 
the last 12 months.  Performance has improved from 11.2% to 
10.7%, moving closer to the Target of 10.0%, which was set to be in 
line with the national average for England for 2016/17.  This 
improvement in performance is a result of several initiatives put in 
place to improve placement stability.  These include the Sense of 
Belonging Project, the creation of the Total Placements Service to 
centralise placement finding, which allows Fostering Social Workers to 
focus on providing support to in-house foster carers and a six-month 
pilot in West Kent to utilise resources from Early Help to provide 
support.  Kent’s latest performance is now in line with the 2016/17 
average rate for its Statistical Neighbours (10.7%) and below the rate 
for the South East Region (12.0%).  

3.4.2 Percentage of CIC Foster Care in KCC Foster Care/Relatives and 
Friends placements (excluding UASC).   There was 0.1% 
improvement in performance, from 84.2% to 84.3% and performance 
remains close to the Target of 85.0%.   

Page 22



3.4.3 CIC placed within 20 miles of home (excluding UASC).  There was 
a 0.1% improvement in performance, from 76.7% to 76.8%.  As this is 
a local measure there is no direct comparative data.  A similar 
measure, covering those placed more than 20 miles and outside the 
local authority boundary shows Kent’s performance (including UASC) 
as 5%, compared to the average for England and Statistical 
Neighbours of 14% (figures are for 2016/17).

3.4.4 Percentage of Initial Health referrals made to Health within 5 days 
of a child/young person coming into care.  Performance for this 
measure improved from 84.8% to 86.3%.  Improvements in 
performance have been achieved by establishing systems for notifying 
Health of all children and young people when they come into care 
which prevents delays in arranging timely health assessments.  This 
performance measure only includes the initial referral date, it does not 
consider any are declined by Health.  Although the number of these is 
very low, additional tracking will enable the actual number to be 
included within the next performance report to Corporate Parenting 
Panel.

3.4.5 Percentage of Initial Health Assessments taking place within 20 
working days. Performance against this measure improved from 
80.1% to 82.8% continuing the trend of month-on-month improvements 
towards the target of 85.0%

3.4.6 The Percentage of Returner Interviews completed within 3 
working days for CIC improved by 0.2% from 74.1% to 74.3%.  Whilst 
performance against this measure remains some way off from the 
Target of 85.0% there is no national or regional comparative data 
available to benchmark performance.  The completion rate of Returner 
Interviews for Children in Care, regardless of the timescale, is 89.1%.  

3.4.7 Percentage of CIC team posts filled by KCC Permanent QSW 
(excluding teams in the Fostering and Adoption services).  The 
number of permanent qualified Social Workers in the CIC Teams 
increased from 89.4 FTE in June 2018 to 90.5 FTE in August 2018, an 
increase of 1.1 FTE.  Initiatives, such as a welcome payment, have 
been put in place to optimise the recruitment of permanent Social 
Workers. 

The remaining 4 KPIs showed a decrease in performance  between June and
August 2018.

3.4.8 Percentage of CIC for 18 months and allocated to the same Social 
Worker for the last 12 months.  Performance against this measure 
has fallen slightly from 48.4% to 47.7%, a decrease of 0.7%.  Current 
performance remains above the March 2018 position of 42.3%

3.4.9 CIC Placement stability: Percentage in the same placement for the 
last 2 years.  Performance has decreased from 69.1% to 68.8%, a 

Page 23



reduction of 0.3%, and remains close to the Target of 70.0% which has 
been set to be in line with the national average for England for 
2016/17.

3.4.10 Average number of days between Court authority to place a child 
for adoption, and a decision on a match.  Details of performance 
against this measure is covered in 3.3.1 of this report.

3.4.11 Average caseloads of Social Workers in CIC Teams.  The average 
caseload for social workers in the Children in Care teams increased 
from 15.8 to 16.6, which is above the Target of 15 cases. The 
reduction of caseloads for Social Workers remains a key priority for the 
service and a programme of observed peer audits is planned over the 
next two months. 

4. Recommendations

4.1 Recommendations:  Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
NOTE and COMMENT on the performance data in the Children in Care scorecard.

5. Background documents

None

6. Contact details

Lead Officer
Maureen Robinson
Management Information Service Manager
03000 417164
Maureen.Robinson@kent.gov.uk

Lead Director
Sarah Hammond
Director, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 411488
sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk

Page 24

mailto:Maureen.Robinson@kent.gov.uk
mailto:sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk


Publication Date: 24 September 2018

SCS Management Information

Kent Specialist Children's Services

Children in Care
Performance Report

Produced by

Aug 2018

Page 25



Guidance Notes

The aim of this indicator is to achieve the highest number/percentage possible.

The aim of this indicator is to achieve the lowest number/percentage possible.

The aim of this indicator is to stay close to the target that has been set.

Children in Care Numerator

Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children Denominator

Becoming Looked After Special Educational Need

Other Local Authority Initial Health Assessment

Year to Date (April to March) Qualified Social Worker

Rolling 12 Months Independent Review Officer

Snapshot Placement Order

Annual Special Guardianship Order

Academic Year to Date (Sept to Aug) M Monthly Figure

http://kccbusiness/sites/FSCMI/SitePages/Contact%20Us.aspx 

Direction of Travel

RAG Ratings

Polarity

T

L

H

G

A

R

No RAG Rating
RAG ratings are not applied to activity based indicators.  Also, if the denominator is lower than 5 no 

RAG rating has been applied

Floor Standard achieved but Target has not been met: Floor Standards represent the minimum 

level of acceptable performance. Floor Standards are set in Directorate Business Plans and if not 

achieved must result in management action

A red rating indicates that the current performance is signficantly away from the target set: Target 

has not been achieved

A green rating indicates that the current performance has met the target that has been set: Target 

has been achieved

To access the child level data underpinning the figures in this report or to request reports and/or analysis as a one off 

please log a request through the SCS Performance Management site:

Some of the performance indicators on the scorecard are measured using a Year to Date (YTD) approach - April to 

the end of the current month. For the first few months, it is advisable to treat the results of these indicators with a little 

caution as they are often based on a small cohort of children and therefore the percentages can be easily skewed.   

SGO

PO

Child Level Data and Ad hoc Requests

YTD Data

AC YTD

A

SS

A green arrow indicates that performance has improved this month when compared to last month. 

Depending on the polarity of the indicator, an improvement in performance could either be a 

reduction or increase in numbers/percentage.

Denom

NumCIC

UASC

Key To Abbreviations

A red arrow indicates that performance has worsened this month when compared to last month. 

Depending on the polarity of the indicator, a worsening in performance could either be a reduction 

or increase in numbers/percentage.

An amber arrow indicates that performance has remained the same as last month.

R12 IRO

QSW

BLA

IHA

SEN

OLA

YTD

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 24/09/2018 CIC Performance Report - Aug 2018 Page 2 of 6

Page 26

http://kccbusiness/sites/FSCMI/SitePages/Contact Us.aspx


% of CIC Cases which were reviewed within required timescales H SS 98.9% G 1,513 1,530 98% 99.1% G 98.9% G
% of Children who participated at CIC Reviews H R12M 95.9% G 4,083 4,258 95% 95.9% G 96.9% G
% of CIC for 18 months and allocated to the same worker for the last 12 months H SS 47.7% A 496 1,040 60% 48.6% A 47.8% A
CIC Placement stability: % with 3 or more placements in the last 12 months L SS 10.7% A 169 1,579 10% 10.7% A 11.0% A 10% *

CIC Placement stability: % in same placement for last 2 years H SS 68.8% A 393 571 70% 69.3% A 68.9% A 70% *

% of CIC Foster Care in KCC Foster Care/Rel & Friends placements (exc UASC) H SS 84.3% A 899 1,066 85% 84.5% A 84.3% A
% of CIC placed within 20 miles from home (exc UASC) H SS 76.8% A 968 1,261 80% 77.5% A 76.8% A

CIC Per 10,000 population aged under 18 (exc UASC) SS 40.5 1,349    333,045 41.2 40.5 57.8 **

Number of Kent CIC SS 1,579 1,593 1,349

Number of OLA CIC placed in Kent L SS 1,329 1,329

% of CIC for 18 months and allocated to the IRO for the last 12 months H SS 71.7% 746 1,040 72.6% 73.0%

% becoming looked after within 24 months of previous episode L YTD 13.7% 41 300 14.5% 17.0%

% Open to Youth Offending Services L SS 2.4% 38 1,579 2.6% 2.4%

% in P&V placements L SS 7.1% 112 1,579 7.0% 8.3%

% of Kent CIC Placed Outside of Kent (exc Medway) SS 8.0% 126        1,579 7.7% 6.7%

% of Kent CIC Placed Outside of Kent (inc Medway) L SS 14.9% 235 1,579 14.9% 12.8%

No. of current CIC with a permanent exclusion this academic year L AC YTD 0 0 0

No. on a part-time timetable L SS 0 0 0

% of CIC for at least 12mths and aged 16-18 at month end with Education Status of NEET L SS 17.1% 64 374 16.1% 17.7%

% looked after continuously for 12 months with an SEN Statement or Support/EHCP L SS

% of EHCPs Issued within 20 weeks for EHCP referrals made while child was CIC H AC YTD

% of IHA referrals within 5 working days of becoming looked after H R12M 86.3% A 379 439 90% 84.6% A 86.3% A
% of Initial Health Assessments taking place within 20 working days H R12M 82.8% A 366 442 85% 82.0% A 82.8% A
% of Health assessments held within required timescale H SS 95.6% G 1,307 1,367 85% 94.7% G 96.4% G 89.4%****

% of Dental Checks held within required timescale H SS 93.9% G 1,284 1,367 90% 92.7% G 93.5% G 83.4%****

% of CIC who turned 18 during the month with a health history completed H SS 100.0% G 24 24 100% 100.0% G 100.0% G

SDQ Average of Questionnaires Completed Since 1st April (for Current LAC) L YTD 13.1 2,678 204 13.4 13.5

Ave. no of days between bla and moving in with adoptive family (for children adopted) L R12M 332.0 G 32,539 98 426.0 336.8 G - - 593****

Ave. no of days between court authority to place a child and the decision on a match L R12M 121.7 A 11,438 94 121.0 117.2 G - - 190 ***

% of Children leaving care who were adopted (exc UASC) or made subject to an SGO H R12M 16.4% G 100 611 15.0% 16.6% G 16.4% G 14%****

% where: 8 weeks from 'adoption being made the Care Plan' to 'Agency Decision to adopt' H R12M 82.7% 81 98 81.7% - -

% of sibling groups that were placed together (where the plan was to place them together) H R12M 84.8% 39 46 84.8% - -

% of CIC with a current Agency Decision, not Placed for Adoption L SS 3.7% 58 1,579 3.5% - -

% who ceased to be Looked After who became subject to a SGO H R12M 2.8% 26 926 2.9% - -

% who ceased to be Looked After who became subject to a SGO (exc. UASC) H R12M 4.3% 26 611 4.6% - -

% of Returner Interviews completed for CIC H R12M 89.1% G 1,100 1,234 85% 89.9% G - -
% of Returner Interviews completed within 3 working days for CIC H R12M 74.3% A 917 1,234 85% 74.7% A - -

Number CIC with Missing Episode started in the month L M 87 94 78

Number of CIC missing episodes started in the month lasting longer than 48 hours M 29 38 27

Complaints made by CIC (or on their behalf) during the month L M 2 4

Care Leavers in suitable accommodation (of those we are in touch with) H R12M 93.1% G 1,370 1,472 90% 93.4% G - - 92.2%****

Care Leavers in employment, education or training (of those we are in touch with) H R12M 65.1% G 958 1,472 65% 65.4% G - - 58.6%****

% of Care Leavers with a Pathway Plan updated in the last 6 months H R12M 95.9% G 1,489 1,552 90% 95.1% G - -
% of Care Leavers we are in contact with (inc UASC) H R12M 86.9% G 1,458 1,677 85% 87.1% G 90.6%****

Percentage of Current Care Leavers with a Staying Put Arrangement H SS 5.7% 92 1,628 5.5% 8.8%

% of CIC team posts filled by KCC Permanent QSW (exc Fostering & Adoption) H SS 78.7% A 90.5 115.0 85% 77.4% A - -
Ave Caseloads of social workers in CIC Teams (District Teams Only) L SS 16.6 A 1,566 94.5 15.0 16.4 A - -
Ave Caseloads of IROs L SS 60.3 G 1,579 26.2 70.0 61.7 G 51.5 G

* indicates national figures from 2016/17 (LAIT)

** indicates national figures from 2016/17 (DfE Statutory returns)

*** ALB Return 2016/17

**** Statistical First Release 2016/17

Last month's result

and RAG Status

Data not available due to new system implementation

Children

Education

Health & Wellbeing

Adoption

Care Leavers

Staffing

Missing Children

Complaints

Excluding UASC

N
at

io
n

al
 

P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 

(E
n

gl
an

d
 R

at
e)

Aug 2018Scorecard

Indicator

P
o

la
ri

ty Data 

Period

Latest Result and 

RAG Status
Num Denom

Target for 

18-19

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 24/09/2018 CIC Performance Report - Aug 2018 Page 3 of 6

Page 27



Age Female Male Grand Total Disability* Female Male Grand Total

0 24 28 52 Autism or Asperger's syndrome 12 54 66

1 11 18 29 Behaviour 10 37 47

2 14 7 21 Communication 9 17 26

3 9 15 24 Consciousness 8 9 17

4 8 11 19 Hand Function 1 1 2

5 12 18 30 Hearing 4 7 11

6 20 19 39 Incontinence 4 9 13

7 10 21 31 Learning 29 50 79

8 29 26 55 Mobility 14 12 26

9 28 40 68 Personal Care 4 7 11

10 40 48 88 Vision 5 8 13

11 36 61 97 Other DDA 7 15 22

12 47 54 101 None 555 838 1393

13 42 70 112

14 52 78 130

15 75 101 176 UASC? Female Male Grand Total

16 80 157 237 Yes 14 216 230

17 76 194 270 No 599 750 1349

Grand Total 613 966 1579 Grand Total 613 966 1579

Nationality Female Male Grand Total Ethnicity Female Male Grand Total

Afghanistani 1 70 71 A1 - White British 516 629 1145

Albanian 11 11 A2 - White Irish 2 3 5

Bangladeshi 1 1 2 A3 - Any other White background 21 48 69

Belgian 1 1 A4 - Traveller of Irish Heritage 1 1

British 568 697 1265 A5 - Gypsy/Roma 6 7 13

Chad 1 1 B1 - White and Black Caribbean 11 19 30

Chinese 1 1 2 B2 - White and Black African 4 8 12

Congolese 1 1 B3 - White and Asian 6 8 14

Czech 6 6 B4 - Any other mixed background 19 9 28

Egyptian 9 9 C1 - Indian 4 4

Eritrean 7 60 67 C2 - Pakistani 0

Ethiopian 1 1 C3 - Bangladeshi 1 1 2

German 1 1 C4 - Any other Asian background 4 23 27

Ghana 1 1 D1 - Caribbean 1 1 2

Guinean 3 3 D2 - African 13 83 96

Indian 1 1 D3 - Any other Black background 2 1 3

Iranian 13 13 E1 - Chinese 1 1 2

Iraqi 11 11 E2 - Any other ethnic group 5 121 126

Irish 2 3 5 Grand Total 613 966 1579

Ivorian 1 1

Kuwaiti 1 1

Latvian 5 1 6

Lithuanian 1 6 7

Nepalese 1 3 4

Nigerian 1 5 6

Not Recorded 6 7 13

Omani 1 1

Polish 5 5

Portugese 2 1 3

Sierra Leone 2 2

Slovak 3 10 13

Slovenian 1 3 4

South African 1 1

Sri Lankan 1 1 2

Sudanese 14 14

Syrian 5 5

Turkish 1 1

Vietnamese 5 13 18

Grand Total 613 966 1579

Demographic Breakdown for Kent LAC as at 31/08/2018

*  If a child has more than 1 disability recorded they will be counted more than once in the table

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 24/09/2018 CIC Performance Report - Aug 2018 Page 4 of 6

Page 28



Referrals

Trend Graphs

* Data between Sep 2013 and Mar 2014 is not available as reporting was suspended due to the implementation of a new system.

** An exercise was undertaken to re-open closed cases with care leaver status in 2016 reporting year, therefore, these figures do show an increase

1,000

1,050

1,100

1,150

1,200

1,250

1,300

1,350

1,400

Aug
13

Nov
13

Feb
14

May
14

Aug
14

Nov
14

Feb
15

May
15

Aug
15

Nov
15

Feb
16

May
16

Aug
16

Nov
16

Feb
17

May
17

Aug
17

Nov
17

Feb
18

May
18

Aug
18

OLA LAC in Kent over the last 5 years

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

Aug
13

Nov
13

Feb
14

May
14

Aug
14

Nov
14

Feb
15

May
15

Aug
15

Nov
15

Feb
16

May
16

Aug
16

Nov
16

Feb
17

May
17

Aug
17

Nov
17

Feb
18

May
18

Aug
18

% of CIC with 3+ placements in 12 months over the last 
5 years*

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

Aug
13

Nov
13

Feb
14

May
14

Aug
14

Nov
14

Feb
15

May
15

Aug
15

Nov
15

Feb
16

May
16

Aug
16

Nov
16

Feb
17

May
17

Aug
17

Nov
17

Feb
18

May
18

Aug
18

LAC over the last 5 years UASC

Citizen

800

850

900

950

1,000

1,050

1,100

1,150

Aug
13

Nov
13

Feb
14

May
14

Aug
14

Nov
14

Feb
15

May
15

Aug
15

Nov
15

Feb
16

May
16

Aug
16

Nov
16

Feb
17

May
17

Aug
17

Nov
17

Feb
18

May
18

Aug
18

LAC placed in KCC Foster Care over the last 5 years

0

50

100

150

200

250

Sep
15

Nov
15

Jan
16

Mar
16

May
16

Jul
16

Sep
16

Nov
16

Jan
17

Mar
17

May
17

Jul
17

Sep
17

Nov
17

Jan
18

Mar
18

May
18

Jul
18

CIC Placed Outside Kent (exc Medway)
over the last 3 years

UASC

Citizen

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

Sep
15

Nov
15

Jan
16

Mar
16

May
16

Jul
16

Sep
16

Nov
16

Jan
17

Mar
17

May
17

Jul
17

Sep
17

Nov
17

Jan
18

Mar
18

May
18

Jul
18

% Leaving Care over the last 3 years
SGO

Adoption

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

Apr
15

Jun
15

Aug
15

Oct
15

Dec
15

Feb
16

Apr
16

Jun
16

Aug
16

Oct
16

Dec
16

Feb
17

Apr
17

Jun
17

Aug
17

Oct
17

Dec
17

Feb
18

Apr
18

Jun
18

Aug
18

Care Leavers**
UASC

Citizen

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

Sep
15

Nov
15

Jan
16

Mar
16

May
16

Jul
16

Sep
16

Nov
16

Jan
17

Mar
17

May
17

Jul
17

Sep
17

Nov
17

Jan
18

Mar
18

May
18

Jul
18

CIC Placed Outside Kent (inc Medway)
over the last 3 years

UASC

Citizen

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 24/09/2018 CIC Performance Report - Aug 2018 Page 5 of 6

Page 29



Data source: VSK. Figures shown are number of children

Multiple Attendance Factors August 2018

Multiple Attendance Factors July 2018

Key: 
CSE  Child Sexual Exploitation PA  Persisent Absence RTT  Reduced Timetable
Exclusions figures include children with temporary suspensions

Education Factors for Kent LAC as at 31/08/2018 and comparison with previous month

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 24/09/2018 CIC Performance Report - Aug 2018 Page 6 of 6

Page 30



From: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and 
Education

Matt Dunkley CBE, Corporate Director for Children, Young People and 
Education

Ann Allen, MBE, Chairman of the Corporate Parenting Panel and Deputy 
Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Education.   

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 1st November 2018

Subject: The Corporate Parenting Annual Report September 2018

Classification: Unrestricted

Summary: This is the first annual report for Corporate Parenting and was written at 
the request of Ann Allen, Chairman of the Corporate Parenting Panel. 

Recommendation: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE the 
Corporate Parenting Annual Report 2018. 

1. Background 

1.1 The Corporate Parenting Annual Report has been written for elected members and is 
presented at the request of the Chairman of the Corporate Parenting Panel, to detail the 
work of the services for children and young people in the care of Kent County Council. 

1.2 The report details the corporate parenting responsibilities for KCC staff, elected members 
and partner agencies and a summary of the work of the Corporate Parenting Panel for 
September 2017-September 2018. 

1.3 The report provides an overview of the role of our key corporate parenting services: 

Kent Fostering 
Adoption
Virtual school Kent 
Care Leavers 18plus Service

Recommendations

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE the Corporate Parenting 
Annual Report 2018. 

Page 31

Agenda Item 11



2. Background documents

None.

3. Contact details

Lead Officer
Caroline Smith 
Interim Assistant Director of Corporate Parenting
03000 415 091
Caroline.Smith@kent.gov.uk 

Lead Director
Sarah Hammond
Director of Integrated Children’s Services East (Social 
Work Lead)
03000 411 488
Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk

Page 32

mailto:Caroline.Smith@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk


CORPORATE PARENTING 
ANNUAL REPORT
Making Kent a county that works for all children

SEPTEMBER 2017-SEPTEMBER 2018
KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

Corporate Parenting

Page 33



Corporate Parenting Annual Report

Ann Allen, MBE Chair of the Corporate Parenting Panel and the Deputy 
Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Education 

Welcome to our first Annual Report for Corporate Parenting which details 
the work of the Corporate Parenting Panel and our services to children in 
care. 

The contribution from our children in care council and our apprentices is 
invaluable and indeed I could not fulfil my role as a corporate parent or 
the chair of the panel without their guidance and support.

As parents we all want the best for our children. We are proud of their 
achievements and create opportunities to celebrate with them as families. As corporate 
parents it is our responsibility and duty to treat our children in care and care leavers as we 
would our own children. 

I am proud of all our young people and their achievements and it is a privilege to work with 
them. As elected members in our role as a corporate parent we must take every opportunity 
to champion for them. 

Caroline Smith, Interim Assistant Director for Corporate Parenting, Children’s 
Social Work Services

I am delighted to welcome you all to our first Annual Report for Corporate 
Parenting. The report will outline our key services that support our 
children in care and care leavers and a summary of the work presented 
to the Corporate Parenting Panel for September 2017- September 2018.

The support and encouragement from the members of the Corporate 
Parenting Panel is invaluable to our children and young people. I am very 
proud to be a Corporate Parent to over 1,500 children and over 1,500 
care leavers and be able to share with you the work of my services.

Our annual report is also an opportunity to celebrate the success and achievements of our 
children and young people, as we strive to be the best possible corporate parents we can 
be. 

Foreword 1
An introduction to Corporate Parenting 2
Our Fostering Service 3
Our Adoption Service 5
Our Virtual School for Kent 9
Our Care Leavers 18+ Service 12
Compliments and feedback 14
How can our elected members get involved? 16

Page 34



Corporate Parenting Annual Report

Section 1
An introduction to Corporate Parenting 

The government have introduced clear corporate parenting principles that require all 
departments within a local authority including staff, elected members and partner agencies 
to recognise their role as a corporate parent and encourage them to look at the support and 
services they provide. Kent County Council work to be the best corporate parents to our 
children and young people by following these key principles:

 To act in the best interest and promote the physical, mental health and wellbeing of 
those children and young people;

 To encourage those children and young people to express their views, wishes and 
feelings;

 To consider the views, wishes and feelings of those children and young people;
 To help those children and young people to gain access to, and make the best use of, 

the services provided by the local authority and its relevant partners;
 To promote high aspirations and seek to secure the best outcomes for those children 

and young people;
 To ensure those children and young people are safe and have stability in their home 

lives, relationships, education and/or work place;
 To prepare those children and young people for adulthood and independent living.

Corporate Parenting Panel and services

Our Corporate Parenting Services are overseen by the Assistant Director for Corporate 
Parenting and comprise of four key services; Fostering, Adoption, Virtual School Kent and 
Care Leavers 18+ Service. The services work closely with our children’s Early Help and 
Social Work teams, health, education, youth offending and key partners including the 
Young Lives Foundation (YLF).   The services report into the Corporate Parenting Panel 
who meet 6 times per year and alongside elected members, the panel has a wide range of 
independent members including foster carers, health, YLF and our participation 
apprentices. 

Each Corporate Parenting Panel includes a Cabinet Member update and performance 
scorecard that enables the panel to monitor our key targets and statutory requirements.  
This year has seen significant improvement across children in care services achieving a 
GREEN rating across our key performance indicators. Wherever possible, children and 
young people attend panel to meet their corporate parents.  The voice of our children and 
young people is represented at all panels by our VSK apprentices and participation 
workers. Members of the panel are invited to attend celebration events which this year 
included the VSK awards, talent showcase, activity days and the foster carers awards.  

Page 35



Corporate Parenting Annual Report

Section 2
Our Fostering Service

Kent Fostering Service consists of seven fostering support teams and four specialist teams 
who focus on assessment and recruitment, training, disabled children and the Sense of 
Belonging service. Kent Fostering is managed by the Head of Fostering, who has direct 
management responsibility for the centralised teams and joint responsibility for the staff 
within the support teams.

The aim of our Fostering Service is to provide a range of high-quality appropriate foster 
placements, that meet the National minimum Standards (2011), whilst ensuring the best 
possible outcomes for our children and young people and supporting them to develop to 
their full potential.

What our children and young people can expect from our Fostering Service

Our children and young people can expect our Fostering Service to provide a range of 
quality family placements within a child’s local area, to enable them to maintain attendance 
at their existing school and continue contact with family and friends.

The service promotes permanency for our children through early care planning to make 
sure that children are in a placement that can offer them permanency through to Staying 
Put as they become adults. Children and young people should be supported to achieve a 
Sense of Belonging within their foster family. 

What our Fostering Service have achieved this annual year1

Corporate Parenting Panel received reports on:

 Safe Care for Children Living away from home;
 Prevent update following Parsons Green Attack including training implementation and 

Prevent Checklist implementation for foster carers;
 Fostering National Stocktake and Fostering Service Business plan 2018;
 Support by members for Foster Carer recruitment;

1 September 2017-September 2018

Page 36



Corporate Parenting Annual Report

 Performance scorecard evidencing achievement across our key targets.

Since the introduction of the Fostering Review Team in 2016, the Fostering Service have 
achieved an outstanding 98% completion of annual reviews within their allocated 
timescales. The clear and consistent process across the county has improved the quality of 
practice particularly in relation to safeguarding, risk assessments, voice of the child and 
compliancy alongside providing an opportunity for reflection.

Sense of belonging
Implemented in September 2017, our Fostering Services’ sense of belonging team support 
our foster carers and professionals at times of crisis and when the placement is at risk of 
disruption, to de-escalate the issue and thereby increase placement stability. 

From January 2018 to June 2018, there have been 37 new referrals, and a total of 62 open 
cases in the Fostering Placement Stability Service. Of the 62 referrals, 35 cases have been 
closed and 27 cases are ongoing. 

Two thirds (71%) of referred cases are due to a placement being at risk of an immediate 
breakdown. The service has a dedicated clinical psychologist to support children and their 
foster carers and is having a significant impact on placement stability. 

Making my mark 2017-2018
For our disabled children in care, their thoughts and feelings about their lives and 
experiences can often go unnoticed or unheard so we invited these children and young 
people, as well as their foster carers and Short 
Break families, to make their mark on a plain white 
canvas.

The result was an exhibition of very different and 
contrasting images that captured their voices in a 
variety of different ways. It sought to remind us that 
they are all individuals and when they come 
together they shine with a shared sense of 
belonging and positive self-worth. 

The pictures were displayed throughout Kent 
including Sessions House Gallery, libraries and art 
galleries over the period of a year.

Foster Carer Recruitment
The recruitment of new foster carers remains a challenge in the current competitive market 
in Kent. We have recruited 30 experienced foster carer ambassadors to support in both 
recruitment and retention who now assist at all our recruitment events. Members of the 
corporate parenting panel are sent details of Fostering events in their area and asked to 
support us in our work to promote Kent Fostering and the recruitment of foster carers for 
the local authority. In the period September 2017-September 2018 KCC approved 80 new 
foster carers.   

Page 37



Corporate Parenting Annual Report

Section 3
Our Adoption Service

The work of Kent County Council’s Adoption Service is governed by the Adoption and 
Children Act 2002, the Adoption Agencies Regulations and Guidance 2013, and the 
Adoption National Minimum Standards (Care Standards Act 2000). 

Kent County Council is committed to ensuring that children and young people can remain in 
the care of their parents and birth families wherever possible. However, where it is not 
possible to achieve stability for the child or young person within the birth family, our 
Adoption Service work to achieve alternative permanent arrangements for the child or 
young person within a family setting and these include adoption.

What our children and young people can expect from our Adoption Service

The purpose of our Adoption Service is to provide a comprehensive service to meet the 
needs of our children and young people who have been or may become adopted, birth 
families, and adoptive parents. 

This will include services in relation to those children and young people in our care with an 
adoption plan, and in relation to the non-agency adoption service. To achieve it aims our 
Adoption Service will ensure that the needs and wishes, welfare and safety of the child are 
at the centre of the adoption process. 

We will welcome those people, who are interested in becoming adoptive parents without 
prejudice, respond to them promptly and provide them with clear information about 
recruitment, assessment and approval. 

Page 38



Corporate Parenting Annual Report

What our Adoption Service have achieved this annual year

Corporate Parenting Panel received reports on:

 Proposal to develop a Regional Adoption Agency (RAA) 
 The Adoption Annual Report 2018 
 Performance scorecard evidencing achievement across our key targets 

Our Kent Adoption Service in 2018, are the second Local Authority in England in terms of 
the number of adoptions made, with the average time from the children and young people 
being placed into its care to the adoption order being granted being 215 days; this is a 
13.6% reduction from the previous year.

Our Adoption Services’ performance in relation to progressing children’s plans of adoption 
is good and exceeds government targets. 

There are various stages involved in the adoption process for a child and these are outlined 
below:

Indicator 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18

ADM best interest decisions 179 93 111 118 112

Placement orders 164 79 90 92 86

Matches approved 172 145 84 89 107

Children placed 170 143 89 84 107

Adoption orders granted 145 182 108 80 104

Number of adoption orders granted

Page 39



Corporate Parenting Annual Report

Our adopters’ journey, using our adoption data
Our Adoption Service’s performance in relation to completing assessments of people 
wishing to become adoptive parents is outlined below. 

There are two stages involved in the adoption process:

 Stage 1 – Which is adopter led;
 Stage 2 – Which includes the actual assessment.

The progression of adopter assessments is good and exceeds government targets.

Adopter activity Number of families 
in 2016/17

Number of families in 
2017/18

Enquiries in year (attended Information 
event) 261 275

Stage 1 starts in year 90 82

Stage 2 starts in year 74 86
Stage 2 ends in year 50 88

Adoptive families matched in year 54 77
Adoptive families with placements in 
year 53 77

Adoptive families with adoption orders in 
year 68 70

Robert Goodwill (Children’s Minister, October 2017) meets members of the Post Adoption Support Team, Coram and adoptive parents

Our Adoption Services’ approval timescales
Currently, our Adoption Service have 38 more adoptive households that were approved 
during 2017-2018 than the previous year.

Our Adoption Services’ post-adoption support activities
PAST provides a range of services including individualised support packages and group 
work to our adopted children and their families. The interventions provided can help to bring 
a deeper understanding of our children and young people’s state of mind, mental health 

Page 40



Corporate Parenting Annual Report

and wellbeing; and to support our adoptive parents in parenting their children to bring about 
their social and emotional development.

During 1st April 2017 and 31st March 2018, 294 families requested post-adoption support. 
Following an assessment, 178 of these requests resulted in the provision of support and 7 
assessments were still being carried out at 31st March. The remainder were signposted to 
other more appropriate sources of support or their request was resolved within the initial 
consultation. 

Our Adoption Services’ post-adoption support team provided post-adoption support to 325 
families during the year, 92 of which were funded by Kent and 233 funded by another route 
(such as the Adoption Support Fund). During national adoption week, October 2017, the 
PAST won a national award for Excellence in adoption practice. 

 

Page 41



Corporate Parenting Annual Report

Section 4
Our Virtual School Kent

Our Virtual School Kent act as Kent County Council’s champion to promote the progress 
and educational attainment of its children and care leavers, with their main objective being 
to support the children and young people to achieve educational outcomes comparable to 
their peers.

Our Virtual School for Kent ensure our children and young people receive high-quality 
education, as we believe that it is the foundation for improving life-opportunities and fulfilling 
career aspirations.

Our Virtual School for Kent ensure that our children and young people that it educates have 
their voice heard in all the school does whilst in return, providing 
their listening skills and producing positive service development and 
responses. 

Our Virtual School for Kent have been successful since its 
development in 2011, this has been recognised in their successive Ofsted inspections.

Virtual School Kent Apprentices

Our Virtual School for Kent offer its young people apprenticeship opportunities, should they 
wish to work within the service. Care experienced young people are employed as 
Apprentice Participation Workers, whilst studying for a Level 2 or 3 qualification. One day 
each week is set aside to allow the apprentices to study and complete coursework in a 
supportive environment. This programme allows VSK to ensure that the apprentices gain a 
good qualification and have a better chance at finding employment in the future. 

The apprentice’s role is to raise the profile of the importance of hearing the voice of 
Children in Care and Young Care Leavers. They work to ensure that information and 
policies are communicated to young people in an accessible way, this can be by face to 
face meetings, creating young person friendly newsletters and leaflets, and being involved 
in the ‘Kent Cares Town’ website, a newly updated information portal for all age ranges.

Our VSK apprentices support participation training events for KCC staff and partner 
agencies. During 2018, they have been involved in Coproduction Workshops for the senior 
management group, joint training for health, Life Long Links launch, awards ceremonies for 
children, young people and foster carers and a variety of conferences. They have also 
produced a film on “Stigma” which was viewed by members of the Corporate Parenting 
Panel. Our apprentices, alongside other young people are trained to undertake interviewing 
of KCC staff. The participation team are currently working on supporting other KCC 
departments to offer apprenticeships for our Care Leavers. Corporate Parenting are very 
proud of the work and achievements of our apprentices and their representation at the 
Corporate Parenting Panel. 

Page 42



Corporate Parenting Annual Report

One of the key roles of our apprentices involves supporting a range of participation 
activities and events as detailed below:

The voice of our children and young people being heard is important to all 
the Corporate Parenting Services, as a result for this shared passion, our 
Virtual School for Kent have the responsibility for developing and 
supporting Kent County Council’s children in care 
councils. Kent County Council’s children and young 
people councils consist of 3 groups of children and 

young people: our young adult council (ages 16-21), children and young 
people council (ages 11-16) and the super council (ages 7-11). 

The children and young people councils provide a forum for all our children and young 
people to allow their voice to be heard and be a part of the most essential changes within 
Kent County Council’s care system.

Critical work within Kent County Council’s Corporate Parenting Services has been 
undertaken to provide our children and young people that are placed out of Kent, with an 
opportunity to be represented by our children and young people councils with priority being 
given to this cohort of our children and young people during 2018 and 2019.

Our Virtual School for Kent run activity days during the school holidays to promote a safe 
and fun environment for children and young people to meet other children in care and care 
leavers and establish friendships and hear about the children and young people councils 
and the process of getting their voice and experiences ‘heard’.

What our children and young people can expect from our Virtual School for 
Kent

Children and young people can expect our Virtual School for Kent to provide them with:

 A service that has the highest aspirations for the children and young people that it 
educates and listens to their voice, to enact positive change.

 A service that prioritises participation and academic progress;
 A service that provides additional support and aid to the children and young people’s 

progress;
 A service that works effectively with the network of professionals around the children 

and young people.

Page 43



Corporate Parenting Annual Report

What our Virtual School for Kent have achieved this annual year2

Corporate Parenting Panel received reports on:

 Verbal update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) on our events 
for children including activity days, the talent show and awards ceremonies;

 Virtual School Kent Overview Report 2015-2016 (validated results) and 2016-2017 (un-
validated results);

 Challenge cards from our children and young people on:
 The prevention of using black sacks to move children’s belongings;
 KCC acting as Rent Guarantors for care leavers;
 Life Long Links being accessible for all children in care.

Our Virtual School for Kent have assisted our children and young people with their 
individual educational needs, leading to exceptional exam results, as laid out below:

Key stage/year Exam results 2017
KS1 Above national average for all indicators except mathematics and 

science, which were broadly in line with the national average.
KS2 35.1% of our children and young people achieved their predicted 

grade combined at the end of KS2. Our children and young people 
outperformed the South Eastern average for children and young 
people in care in all indicators except mathematics, which was broadly 
in line with the national average.

KS4 20% of our children and young people achieved a 4 or above in their 
English GCSE with 16% achieving a 4 or above in their mathematics 
GCSE. 1 unaccompanied asylum-seeking young person achieved 5 
A*-C GCSE qualifications despite being in the United Kingdom for 
approximately 2-years.

KS5 We currently have 20 young people who are currently attending 
university with young people who are not in education, training or 
employment reducing by 64% over the past 4 years.

Challenge cards
The development of a challenge card has been successful. The objective of challenge 
cards is to allow children and young people to challenge their corporate parents on various 
issues that they face whilst in or leaving care. The challenge cards provide a formal way to 
make sure that all children and young people feel that they have a voice and that their 
experiences can impact the changes in Children’s Social Work Services’ delivery in a 
positive manner.

The three challenge cards this year have created significant change, with the most 
significant change being Kent County Council agreeing to act of a guarantor for our Kent 

2 September 2017-September 2018

Page 44



Corporate Parenting Annual Report

Care Leavers. The pilot scheme for this was implemented in July 2018. The other two 
challenge cards were KCC ensuring black bin bags are not used to transport children’s 
belongings and requesting that the Life Long Links project is available for all children in 
care in Kent. 

Focus groups
During 2017 and 2018, our Virtual School for Kent’s participation team implemented a 
programme of focus groups which take place once each academic term in different 
locations around Kent.

These focus groups allow members, Kent County Council and other organisations working 
in the care sector, to gather the views of our children and young people about changes and 
developments which will affect them or others. Recent meetings have focused on the re-
development of the Kent cares town website. The implementation of these focus groups will 
allow even more of our children and young people to participate and have their say on 
decisions that are important to them and other people.

Our pledge to Children in Care and Care Leavers

In 2018 our Virtual School for Kent’s participation team have worked to design an ‘easy-
read’ version of our Kent pledge, to help ensure all our children and young people have 
easy access to this document in a way that meets their needs. As corporate parents, we 
made a pledge to all our children in care based on the following themes: 

 A sense of belonging;
 Getting ready for being an adult;
 Championing your needs and interests;
 An adult who is always there for you while you are 

in care;
 A good education;
 Good memories for the future.

Page 45



Corporate Parenting Annual Report

Section 5
Our Care Leavers 18+ Service

Our Care Leavers 18+ Service is based in 
West Malling and Dover and is part of Kent 
County Council’s Children’s Social Work 
Corporate Parenting Service.

Our Care Leavers 18+ Service work closely 
with young people who are aged 18-25- old, 
their team is made up with Personal 
Advisers; who will support care leavers with 
their journey to living independently and have 
a legal obligation to support all children and 

young people in our care until their 25th birthday.

There are currently 1,529 care leavers being supported by our Care Leavers 18+ Service; 
884 of these care leavers are unaccompanied asylum-seeking children and 645 are United 
Kingdom citizens.3

What our young people can expect from our Care Leavers 18+ Service 

Our Care Leavers 18+ Service can assist Kent County Council’s young people in accessing 
housing, education, training, work experience and health services; whilst being there to 
support them to make the most of leaving our care to continue their journey on to 
independence and adulthood. Our Care Leavers 18+ Service are also there to assist our 
young people by providing advice, encouragement and financial advice to help our young 
people in making the most of their journey through our care system.

What our Care Leavers 18+ Service have achieved this annual year4

Corporate Parenting Panel received reports on:

 Corporate Parenting pilot scheme: Kent County Council acting as a guarantor for our 
care leavers; 

 Report on the types of accommodation for our children in care and care leavers; 
 Performance scorecard evidencing achievement across our key targets;
 Review of the Care Leavers Service September 2018.

3 This data is from the care leavers 18+ services’ records as of 17/08/2018.
4 September 2017-September 2018

Page 46



Corporate Parenting Annual Report

Action Target Achieving
1 Personal Adviser to have contact with all their allocated young 

people a minimum of once every 6-weeks.
85% 87.4%

2 Care leavers in suitable accommodation. 90% 94%
3 Young people in education, training or employment. 65% 66%
4 Pathway plans to be updated and reviewed every 6-months. 90% 97%
5 Number of young people receiving health history at aged 18. 100% 100%

Key new developments and initiatives

Transition
From 1st April 2018, the service has extended their statutory duty to support young people 
up until the age of 25 years (formerly 21 years), following the implementation of the 
Children and Social Work Act (2017). The service is working on the KCC Local Offer, which 
is due for publication in December 2018, which will set out our services and entitlements for 
Care Leavers. 

The review of the service identified a gap in our provision during the transition period for 
young people aged 17-18 years, who are transitioning to the Care Leavers service. The 
service is now allocating a Personal Advisor earlier, to young people aged 17-years and 6-
months old to actively support them through their transition to adulthood. 

Lifelong Links
Our Care Leavers 18+ Service have recently undergone planning with a view to identify 5 of 
our young people who may be suitable for our upcoming pilot that follows the principle of 
Lifelong Links. Considering this, it would allow our young people to develop a wider and 
more secure network of support as they transition into independence and adulthood.

Drop-in service
Kent County Council’s Corporate Parenting Service(s) are aware that young people may 
only want to meet with our Care Leavers 18+ Service on their terms. Considering this, we 
have structured a drop-in service where it is recognised that for some, disassociation from 
societal norms have been a factor in their care history and enforced activity could result in 
further alienation. 

The main purpose of the care leavers drop-in service are:

 To offer networking opportunities for young people;
 To provide access to advice for education and careers for those who are not in 

education, training or employment;
 To maintain constructive contact with our isolated and vulnerable care leavers;
 To promote re-engagement with care services.

Page 47



Corporate Parenting Annual Report

Section 6
Additional work, compliments and feedback

This year, the work of the Corporate Parenting panel has also included attendance and 
reports covering the following: 

 Young People Missing from Placement;
 Review and update of the Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning Strategy; 
 Safeguarding for young people in custody;
 Video’s from our children and young people’s councils on “Stigma for children in care” 

and the Talent Showcase June 2018; 
 Adoption Conference March 2018; 
 Initial Health Assessment Data Overview;
 Life Long Links Conference May 2018;
 Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children (UASC) Conference June 2018;
 Meeting children and young people attending panel to hear their experiences of being in 

care June 2018;
 Revision of rates payable and charges levied for Children's Services in 2018-2019;
 Children’s Celebration Events August and September 2018.

The Corporate Parenting Panel welcomes feedback from our service users. Corporate 
Parenting will be undertaking a Foster Carers Satisfaction Survey and Care Leavers Survey 
in 2018, to use this feedback to further improve and develop our services to children and 
young people. 

Kent Fostering Services

“Absolutely fantastic! The best advice I have had since beginning my fostering journey has 
come from the psychologist. She saved me from going mad!” Sense of Belonging team

“Thank you so much for your invaluable input over the last months. You have provided us 
with support and very helpful direction in some difficult times.”

“My child’s behaviour improved from being with a new peer group and from having male 
staff as positive role models.”

“Our young person talked nonstop about the fun he had and asked when he could go 
again.” 

“He is still talking about the friends he made on the activity day and can’t wait until the next 
one.”
Residential weekends at our KCC activity centres.

Page 48



Corporate Parenting Annual Report

Kent Adoption Services

“An invaluable experience with lots of new learning and reminder of the needs of children 
that we work with.”

“Excellent variety in speakers and appreciated the grounding in medical research, not just 
practice wisdom or social work practice.”

“Good balance of science, clinical practice, education and personal experiences. Nice 
balance (parent & young person’s voice represented too).” 

Training events including the Adoption Conference.

Kent’s Virtual School

“My child had just come into care. It was so wonderful for her to meet others in the same 
position and talk! She made friends and just loved the day.”

“It gives the children the opportunity to make friends in similar situations as themselves, 
gives them a sense of feeling important in a non-judgemental way in a safe confidential 
way. They have fun and learn new skills.”

“Both children often refuse to TRY! when we are present, so leaving them with other 
children with the same worry of new things gave them reassurance that feeling was normal. 
They tried everything and they both said how proud they were of themselves.”

“She attended her first one. She was delighted. She is the only child in her school in care 
and has no one to talk to of her age. We support at a home but it’s not the same. She was 
so bouncy afterwards and feels she’s not the only one!” 

Participation events including activity days.

Kent’s Care Leavers 18+ Service

“Thanks so much for your hard work. Hope one day I make you proud. It feels so good to 
not worry about the rent for few months. I feel so much better. I just wanted to let you know 
how happy you guys made me. Just wanted to share this with you and say thank you to you 
and to your team.”

“’A’ has many attributes as a PA, the biggest one of which is her ability to relate to and 
communicate with our young people while remaining professional and respectful and 
always being realistic and reliable. ‘A’ is informative and never makes a promise she cannot 
keep. It is a pleasure to watch her work with young people who often need much more than 

Page 49



Corporate Parenting Annual Report

a typical person of their age. We would like to thank ‘A’ for everything she has done and is 
still doing for our teenagers.” Feedback from our care leavers.

“C has been an absolute pleasure to work with the last few months, she shows a real 
genuine care for Care Leavers and the young men in our care, she is extremely meticulous 
and will try her hardest to help and support the men wherever she can, from sitting and 
having an informal chat with them when they have previously before been dubious about 
the service to bringing them clothes to support their basic needs. 

C organised a Focus Group here at Elmley with all Care Leavers in Custody from the Kent 
area, although they did not originally seem keen to attend, once C explained who she was 
and why she was there, they were immediately at ease and comfortable discussing their 
past, issues they had and it instantly they felt comfortable and we had a successful 
meeting. 

When I see the Men, they are always asking how C is and if they will be seeing her again, 
having someone so involved who is not their direct Personal Advisor is such a great support 
and something that we hope continues. C recently attended one of our Music Performances 
as one of the Care Leavers is on the course. 

This is something that is completely unexpected of her role, but she was extremely keen to 
attend and show her support. This was pivotal to the Care Leaver as C was his only visitor 
to attend and he was extremely grateful.” Feedback from HMP Elmley.

How can our elected members get involved? 

All our Corporate Parenting services welcome visits from members and ask for their 
ongoing support for our children and young people. Whether this is through sharing in the 
children’s achievements at our celebration events such as the VSK award ceremonies or 
through more formal training events such as our yearly conferences. 

The children and young people welcome meeting their corporate parents at activity days, 
this helps them to understand the role of a corporate parent and be able to speak openly 
about their experiences. 

Members are essential in being champions for our children and young people in care, to 
ensure their voice is heard. We also ask our elected members to promote the recruitment of 
foster carers for the Kent Fostering service and assist our vision to have more Kent 
families, to care for our Kent children and care leavers. 

Page 50



From:            Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Education.

Matt Dunkley, CBE, Corporate Director for Children, Young People and 
Education.

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 1st November 2018

Subject: Update on Mind Of My Own App for Children in Care and Care Leavers

Classification: Unrestricted

Summary: This overview report provides Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel 
with an update on the delivery and implementation of Mind Of My Own 
(MOMO) 

Recommendation: The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to NOTE and COMMENT on the   
                                 progress of the roll-out of Mind Of My Own (MOMO).

1 Aims of the Project

1.1 Mind Of My Own (MOMO) is an app and web-based application designed as a tool to help 
young people to share their thoughts and feelings with the professionals they work with.  It 
can encourage young people to structure their thoughts and consider what is going well in 
their lives, what they are worried about and what they would like to happen to make their 
life better.  

1.2 It was commissioned by Kent in response to young people telling us they wanted a quick 
and easy way to have their views heard, either independently or with the assistance of 
their carer, another professional or trusted person.

2. Background

2.1 MOMO is used by over 60 Local Authorities throughout the country. 

2.2 After the MOMO app was piloted in North Kent, it was subsequently commissioned to roll 
out the MOMO One and MOMO Express Service across Kent. A 24-month subscription 
was agreed. 

2.3 A project plan was put together by the SCS Participation Coordinator in post at the time 
detailing a roll out plan to train front line staff in September 2017. Members of the 
Corporate Parenting Panel were provided with an overview of the delivery and 
implementation of the App across the services that sat under Specialist Children’s 
Services.

2.4 In March 2018, as take up was slow, the responsibility for promoting MOMO and 
increasing its usage became the responsibility of the VSK Participation Team.

2.5 In Kent, there are two versions of MOMO available for use:

Page 51

Agenda Item 12



  MOMO One:
MOMO One is designed to be used independently by young people over the age of 
eight whenever they want and is an easy way for them to express themselves.  It 
allows children and young people to raise a problem, suggest a change, share good 
news or prepare for a meeting or worker visit among other options.  Young people 
require an email address to sign up for a young person’s account.  It is used 
independently or with the worker on a smart phone, tablet or laptop.

MOMO Express:
MOMO Express is designed to meet the needs of young children under eight and those 
with learning disabilities. It is equipped with visually stimulating pictures and sounds 
appropriate for them.  Children can answer questions about themselves, their 
education, their health or their social care.  Express is designed to be “co-piloted” by 
the worker with their young person using a worker account and is used with a worker 
on a tablet or laptop.

3. Roll-out Update

3.1 Training:

3.1.1 Training for professionals facilitated by MOMO took place on four dates in September 
and October 2017. 

 
3.1.2 In response to feedback received after the training that professionals found it difficult to 

take the time to travel to central venues for training sessions, further training was 
prepared and delivered by the VSK Participation Team Officers and took place between 
May and July 2018 at 8 different locations through Kent.  Multiple dates and times were 
offered, and training sessions were shortened to make them more accessible to 
professionals.  Invitations were sent to Social Workers in all localities, Social Workers 
within the Disabled Children’s Team, Independent Reviewing Officers and 18+ Personal 
Advisers.

3.1.3 181 workers in total signed up for the training.

3.2 Usage:

3.2.1 Kent now has 244 workers using MOMO and 280 young person accounts. Sign up has 
more than doubled since May 2018 since further training sessions have been run and 
workers now have mobile devices. 

3.2.2 Usage is continuing to increase as workers are signing up independently as 
understanding of MOMO is now more widespread. MOMO is a very simple tool to use, 
and the training is not compulsory, with workers and young people being able to use the 
‘Kent User Guide to MOMO’ to further aid ease of usage. VSK Apprentices have been 
tasked with promoting MOMO to the young people they are working with and are helping 
young people download the App and set up their user accounts.

3.2.3 The majority of MOMO statements (87.7%) are sent via a young person’s account.  This 
fits the best practice model as devised by MOMO where young people should, wherever 
possible, use their own account to complete and send MOMO statements.

Page 52



3.2.4 Since September 2017, 356 MOMO statements have been sent by young people: 80% of 
these were MOMO One statements sent independently by the young person. 10% were 
MOMO Ones sent with the support of a professional from their worker’s account. The 
remaining 10% were sent using MOMO Express from a worker’s account. Since March 
2018 the number of MOMO statements received has increased by 30.5%

3.2.5 The most common reasons that young people are sending MOMO statements are to 
share some good news, plan for a meeting or because their worker is due to visit them.

.
3.2.6 12 to 16 year olds are the most common users of MOMO with the youngest user being 

age 6. 

3.2.7 65% of young people using MOMO are female and 35% male.

Page 53



4. Feedback 

4.1 Feedback from children and young people:

Feedback from children and young people has been very positive. VSK Apprentices have 
gathered the views and responses from young people at Children in Care Council 
meetings and informally when they are interacting with young people at events like activity 
days. Some of their responses have been:

 ‘It’s an easier way to contact my Social Worker’
 ‘It’s good for kids if they have anxieties about stuff’
 ‘Sometimes it’s difficult to say stuff face to face, so MOMO makes it easier.’
 ‘Easy to use as you have your phone on you any time of the day and whilst you’re 

thinking about it.’
 ‘Quicker to get a problem sorted if you’re not seeing your social worker for a few 

weeks.’
 ‘Enables a young person to contact their social worker without going through their 

foster carer.’
 ‘Alternative way to communicate instead of lots and lots of paperwork that we 

remember filling in.’ 
 ‘Safe and recorded, so evidence of it all rather than someone forgetting or not getting 

the details of a conversation.’

4.2 Feedback from Professionals:

4.2.1 Feedback from Children in Care Teams has been largely positive and social workers 
using the app have confirmed it is another useful tool that they can access to help ensure 
they have good communication channels with the young people they are working with. 

4.2.2 Fostering Social Workers have shown particular enthusiasm for MOMO.  Several have 
suggested that they be added as a worker type so that young people can complete the 
Foster Care Review Section and send it directly to them. Currently MOMO has a drop-
down list of worker types, for young people to choose when using their account; these 
include their child in care social worker, Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) and 
teachers. The role of Fostering Social Worker is not currently a “worker type” on the 
system, so this would require Kent requesting a system update for any future versions of 
MOMO. 

4.2.3 MOMO’s limitations have also been noted; in particular, it does not have the facility for 
the worker to respond directly to the young person through MOMO.  The young person 
only receives notification that their MOMO statement has been sent. There has also been 
some concern that MOMO may be a novelty to young people and their usage of it may 
drop, particularly if they don’t think they have received a timely response.

4.2.4 Another observation is that the app is only available in English- this concern has been 
fed back to MOMO.

Page 54



4.3 Case Examples:

 ‘I have used MOMO on one occasion when a young person contacted me to let me 
know he was feeling unhappy and low. We were then able to arrange a meeting and 
as a result he is now open to CAMHS for a full assessment. I genuinely believe this 
young person would not have contacted me without the MOMO app’. Social Worker 
– Dover Children in Care Team

 ‘Quite a few of my young people have been using MOMO. I think it has been a good 
way to encourage them to communicate with me. One of my young people aged 15 
uses it to raise any problems she has, and it has been effective in giving her an outlet 
to express her views as it makes her think about the problem and what she would like 
to happen. I have had other young people use it to tell me about good news or to 
prepare for a meeting.

 
I have tried to use it instead of the paper consultation documents for a Child in Care 
Review, but I don’t think the forms encourage enough detail. For example, on one of 
the forms they are asked ‘what’s good in your life’ and then there are a range of 
symbols that they can click on, i.e. school etc. I have found that most of my young 
people just click on the symbols and don’t write any detail about why something is 
good.

 
I also find it frustrating that you can’t respond to young people using the MOMO app. 
This means that there can be several days delay between them sending the MOMO 
and you speaking to them about the issue. It would be so much better if we could 
communicate with them through the app. I have also found that it has been difficult to 
maintain my young person’s interest in using the app. I get a lot of MOMO’s when I 
first tell them about it but then the novelty seems to wear off a bit. I think this is in part 
because they don’t get the immediate response back. I think it would retain their 
interest if we could send them messages/information via the app as then I think they 
would use it more often.’         Social Worker – Ashford Children in Care Team

 ‘I have received a few MOMO statements from one of my children and have found 
this to be a very useful tool for both the child and me. This particular child has 
permanence in her placement and so my visits are only once every 3months. Within 
this time there are significant things that happen in her life, that she wishes to share 
with myself; however she is of an age where she does not have her own mobile 
phone to be able to communicate directly with me in that way. This child has now 
been able to send me messages on MOMO telling me about significant events but 
also highlighting any areas that she is struggling with. I am then able to make contact 
with her via her foster carer to arrange an additional visit or have been able to discuss 
with her on my next visit. This has allowed her to feel listened to, and she loves telling 
me all about her horse riding!’ Senior Practitioner – Swale Children in Care Team

 ‘I have supported two of my young people with the MOMO app. Both young people 
were extremely interested and thought it was a good way to share information without 
being face to face. I have noticed how they prefer using the downloaded app to the 
internet. My only concern is once they have sent one MOMO message it seems they 
lose interest and could perceive the app to be a bit of a novelty’. Newly Qualified 
Social Worker - Thanet Child In Care

Page 55



 ‘It’s a straightforward app and I am impressed at how easy it is to use.  I don’t see 
why everyone isn’t going to use it.  Why wouldn’t they?’ Practice Mentor for Newly 
Qualified Social Workers

4.4 Feedback from MOMO

MOMO have recently communicated that Kent is now one of its top users. They recently 
wrote to the Corporate Director to advise that over the past few months the uptake of 
MOMO in Kent has increased dramatically and noted the hard work, commitment and 
enthusiasm from Kent to embed MOMO in its Services.

5. Moving forward

5.1 Plans are in place for VSK apprentices to introduce the idea of MOMO to young people not 
yet using it via their Designated Teachers in schools. 

5.2 MOMO is being promoted on the newly updated Kent Cares Town website, with plans for 
a short film to be made with the support of the Children in Care Councils to help promote it 
to young people.

5.3 More time will be allocated to exploring how MOMO could be useful to engage with young 
people who live Out of County, to ensure we are aware of their wishes and feelings.

5.4 The idea of offering MOMO to a wider audience of young people needs to be explored 
further.

6. Conclusions

6.1 Our conclusions so far are that MOMO is a valuable resource for young people to have 
access to. It also fulfils their request of having easier ways to contact the professionals 
who are responsible for them.

6.2 We do, however, think that MOMO has limitations and are involved in MOMO’s practice 
development events to feedback our thoughts and suggestions as MOMO are very open to 
hearing from Local Authorities to improve their products. One key area would be that we 
were able to have a system that enabled the worker to communicate back directly to the 
young person through the App. It is not likely that MOMO would be able to have this 
facility.

6.3 Workers are now clearer that in the vast majority of cases young people will use MOMO 
on their own devices so social workers not having access to mobile technology themselves 
is not a barrier to young people using the App. It was previously thought that, if social 
workers did not have use of their own mobile device for work purposes, it could be a 
barrier to the use of MOMO by young people, but this is in fact not the case.

6.4 There needs to be mechanisms to remind workers and young people that MOMO is 
available for them to use as the data shows usage peaks when training with professionals 
and events with young people have just occurred.

Page 56



6.5 To increase the use of MOMO, it may need to be embedded further in workers’ practice so 
that it becomes a widely used resource for professionals to encourage participation and 
capture the voice of the young person.

6.6 MOMO is not viewed as a suitable alternative to any statutory requirements but rather 
another method of engaging children and young people and enhancing our work with 
them.  

7. Recommendation: The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to NOTE and COMMENT on 
the progress of the roll-out of Mind Of My Own (MOMO).

8. Background Documents

Appendix 1 – Update of Mind of My Own App for children and Young People – September 
2017

9. Contact Details

Report Author
Jo Carpenter
VSK School Bursar & Project Officer
03000 411876
Joanne.carpenter@kent.gov,uk

Lead Officer
Caroline Smith 

  Interim Assistant Director of Corporate Parenting
03000 415091
Caroline.Smith@kent.gov.uk 

Lead Director
Sarah Hammond
Director of Integrated Children’s Services – East (Social Work Lead)
03000 411488
Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk 

Page 57

mailto:Joanne.carpenter@kent.gov,uk
mailto:Caroline.Smith@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



From: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People 
and Education 

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, Health 
and Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 18 September 2017

Subject: UPDATE ON MIND OF MY OWN APP FOR CHILDREN 
AND YOUNG PEOPLE

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Divisions: All

Summary:  This report provides Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel with an 
overview of the delivery and implementation of Mind of My Own across Specialist 
Children’s Services, including Disabled Children’s Services, in Kent.

Recommendation: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE 
the progress on the roll-out of Mind of My Own countywide.

1. Background

1.1 The MOMO (Mind of My Own) App has been used by more than 50 local 
authorities as part of their offer in capturing the wishes and feelings of children 
and young people and it has been recognised by Ofsted as a positive 
communication tool for young people.  It is a secure App that can be used on 
most mobile phones, tablets and laptops that allows children and young people 
aged around 8-21 years of age to:

 raise a problem
 make a change
 have their say in a meeting
 feedback on their last meeting

1.2 It is a quick and easy way for young people to have their voices heard, either 
independently or with the help of their Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO), 
social worker, parent/carer or other trusted person.  Children and young people 
will be able to use the App to complete a ‘feedback statement’.

1.3 The feedback will be sought as part of the social work with the child or young 
person; for a looked after child this can include thoughts about their care plan, 
preparation for the child in care review meeting or to provide feedback on their 
placement.  Children and young people are able to report if they feel unsafe or 
unhappy.  It is an additional safeguard for looked after children living away from 
their families.

1.4 When a feedback statement is finalised, a pdf document is then automatically 
produced by MOMO and sent to a bespoke mailbox within Specialist Children’s 

Page 59



Services (SCS) and a copy of the document is placed onto the child’s file on 
Liberi (the SCS management information data base).  Information will be 
screened for safeguarding issues by business support trained to identify when a 
social worker needs to be notified of a safeguarding concern.

1.5 MOMO was successfully piloted in North Kent between February and October 
2016 with a cohort of looked after children and positive feedback was received 
from 79 children and young people.  Young people reported that they felt able to 
use it to discuss their worries about placement and that MOMO is an effective 
safeguarding tool. 

1.6 In January 2017, MOMO released a new App called MOMO Express.  MOMO 
Express is an App for young people with disabilities and younger children. It 
uses expressive pictures, minimal text and affirming sounds that can all be 
tailored to the individual young person’s needs.  It can be used for education, 
health or social care planning or review process, including Education Health 
Care Plans (EHCP), and facilitates the participation of young people.  The App 
was co-designed with young people with disabilities and is the only product on 
the market of its kind.  Disabled Children’s Services (DCS) took the decision to 
roll out MOMO Express across the service during 2017.

1.7 In order for this service to be made available to all Kent looked after children, a 
contract has been procured with MOMO to deliver it across the county.  There 
has been significant planning to ensure that social workers and IROs are able to 
use the application and have the appropriate IT infrastructure to enable its use 
with children and young people.  The roll-out of the MOMO App is also being 
coordinated alongside the roll-out of mobile working which will enable social 
workers to use tablets to facilitate direct work with children in gaining their views 
and showing them how to feedback on their care experiences.

1.8 Further detail on MOMO can be found at http://mindofmyown.org.uk/ and a 
demo version of MOMO One can be found at https://one-
demo.mindofmyown.org.uk/#/ . 

2. Roll-out Plan Update

2.1 Training of Frontline Staff

2.1.1 There are four dedicated training dates throughout September and October 
2017 and the training will be delivered jointly by trainers from MOMO and the 
Virtual School Kent (VSK) participation team.  The plan is for 240 SCS and DCS 
staff to be trained to use MOMO with children and young people; this is 
approximately a third of all frontline staff.  The train-the-trainers model is 
considered the most cost effective way of delivering training to all relevant staff 
and therefore those staff who have received the training will cascade it locally to 
the other social workers in their teams.  MOMO offer a package of continuous 
email inductions to help embed use of the App as part of everyday practice and 
also offer email and telephone support to anyone requiring additional 
assistance.

Page 60

http://mindofmyown.org.uk/
https://one-demo.mindofmyown.org.uk/#/
https://one-demo.mindofmyown.org.uk/#/


2.2 IT Requirements

2.2.1 Tablets are being purchased for frontline staff in the children in care and 
children’s social work teams as well as iPhones at the same time as staff are 
being trained to use MOMO.  This equipment will be compatible with MOMO 
and will greatly assist in the accessibility of the App to both professionals and 
children and young people.

2.3 Business Support

2.3.1 Business support staff are also being trained to review statements received 
through the MOMO App so they can screen for any safeguarding issues that 
might arise and escalate accordingly.

2.4 Data Collection and Collation

2.4.1 The MOMO Service Dashboard provides information on the use of the App by 
young people.  Information that can be produced includes the number of young 
people who have registered to use the App; the number of statements that have 
been created and for what meeting e.g. child in care review, or placement 
planning or a Personal Education Plan (PEP) meeting and will also provide 
information on the child and their wishes and feelings.

2.4.2 The SCS Management Information Unit is looking at the incorporation of the 
MOMO Dashboard data into a revised reporting plan so that participation 
feedback is captured and reported.  This will see regular, meaningful data being 
available to assist in planning services in response to children and young 
people’s needs.

2.5 Promotion of MOMO

2.5.1 The introduction of MOMO across the county will be reviewed and discussed at 
the October 2017 Children in Care Council (CICC) meetings (both the Super 
Council and the Older Children, Young People Council) and at the Young Adults 
Council (YAC) meeting in November 2017.  Regular feedback will be sought 
from the CICC meetings going forward.  Information about MOMO will also be 
included in the autumn CIC newsletters that are sent to children and young 
people via their foster carers.  Foster carers will be informed of MOMO via letter 
and the VSK apprentice participation workers will be raising this when attending 
Foster Carer Support Groups.  Foster carers have access to the CIC 
newsletters which are produced three times a year.  Professionals will be 
asked, as part of their training, to promote the awareness of MOMO to wider 
partners supporting children and young people encouraging them to view the 
two web-links that provide an overview of MOMO as well as an opportunity to 
utilise the demo version to gain insight of how the App works from the young 
person’s perspective.

Page 61



3. Moving Forward, Post Roll-out

3.1 Once all training of professionals has been completed, MOMO is expected to 
become ‘business as usual’ in Kent and form part of the social workers’ ‘toolkit’ 
to encourage participation and capture the voice of the child. 

4. Recommendations

4.1 Recommendation: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
NOTE the progress on the roll-out of Mind of My Own countywide.

5. Background Documents

None

6. Report Author
Gemma O’Grady
Participation Co-ordinator, Virtual School Kent 
07912 596646
gemma.o’grady@kent.gov.uk

Lead Officer
Naintara Khosla
Assistant Director for Corporate Parenting
03000 413865
Naintara.khosla@kent.gov.uk

Relevant Director
Philip Segurola
Director of Specialist Children’s Services
03000 413120
Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk

Page 62

mailto:tony.doran@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Naintara.khosla@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk


From: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People 
& Education

Matt Dunkley, CBE, Corporate Director for Children, Young 
People and Education

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 1st November 2018

Subject: INDEPENDENT REVIEWING SERVICE ANNUAL REPORT 
2017//2018

Classification: Unrestricted

Summary: The Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) Annual Report for 
2017/187 is attached as Appendix 1. This report provides an 
account of the performance of the Council’s IRO Service for 
Children in Care from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018

Recommendation:  Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
NOTE and COMMENT ON the Independent Reviewing 
Officer (IRO) Annual Report and its findings.

1. Introduction

1.1 Volume 2 of the Children Act 1989 regulations and statutory guidance (IRO
Handbook) requires that the service manager of each local authority’s 
Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) Service produce an annual report for the 
scrutiny of elected Members and the responsible local authority’s corporate 
parenting board.

1.2 This report sets out the work of the IROs, supported by findings from the 
quality assurance (QA) audit programme and monthly QA reporting.

1.3 The report includes both quantitative information about performance and the
quality of practice as well as examples of the views of children/young people
about the IRO service and Social Work practice.

Contact Details

Lead Officer
Becky Cooper 
Service Manager Quality Assurance & Safeguarding
03000 415186

Recommendation:

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE and COMMENT ON 
the Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) Annual Report and its findings.

Page 63

Agenda Item 13



Becky.cooper@kent.gov.uk  

Lead Director
Sarah Hammond
Director, Integrated Children’s Services (Social Work Lead)

        Children, Young People and Education
03000 411488
Sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk 

Page 64

mailto:Becky.cooper@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk


Independent Reviewing Service
ANNUAL REPORT 2017/2018

Page 65



Introduction

An annual report of the Independent Reviewing Service for looked after children is required 
in accordance with the Children and Young Person’s Act 2008 and this report provides a 
summary of work completed by the IRO Service in Kent for the period between 1st April
2017 and 31st March 2018.

The Development of the IRO Service

All local authorities have a statutory duty to regularly review the care plan of children in their 
care within the legislative timescales as set out in the Care Planning and Case Review 
Regulations (2010). The appointment of an IRO for every looked after child is a legal 
requirement under section 118 of the Adoption and Children Act (2002) and the subsequent 
Review of Children’s Cases Regulations (2004). The role of the IRO was strengthened in the 
Children and Young Person’s Act (2008) and Care Planning, Placement Regulations and 
Case Review (2010).

Since April 2011, the IRO role has been strengthened and the responsibility of the IRO 
changed from the management of the LAC review process to a wider overview of the child’s 
case, including monitoring of the care plan in between reviews. This a key role within the 
Council in relation to the improvement of care planning for Children in Care and for 
challenging drift and delay in the implementation of care plans and permanency planning for 
our children and young people.

In June 2013 Ofsted published a report, “Independent Reviewing Officers: taking up the 
challenge?” Inspectors found that senior leaders valued the quality assurance role of the 
IRO, with most saying that they would welcome more consistent, and stronger challenge 
from IROs. There is a continued need to ensure that IROs are sufficiently supported and 
challenged by leaders in driving effective improvement in services for children in care. In 
November 2014 findings from a research study by The Centre for Research on the Child and 
Family (CRCF) at the University of East Anglia were published. The project focused on care 
planning and the role of the IRO and found the IRO role had ‘bedded down’, has a higher 
profile and greater acceptance within Local Authorities. The research found that IROs have 
become more  active  and  interventionist  and social  workers and team mangers usually 
valued the input of the IROs even when they found it challenging. Social workers welcomed 
advice  and  monitoring  and  most  IROs  enjoyed  this  collaborative  working  to  improve 
practice. The IRO Service needs to develop a stronger collective voice within their 
organisation which in turn needs to harness the learning and share the messages from 
individual cases.

The Ofsted Inspection Report on Kent Children’s Services, March 2017 highlighted that “the 
very large majority of children participate in their own timely reviews, with their wishes and 
feelings carefully considered by independent reviewing officers (IROs) who know them well. 
Caseloads for IROs are manageable. IROs meet children before their reviews and monitor 
the progress of plans between reviews. A culture of challenge is in place across the service, 
and appropriate dispute resolutions are progressed.”

Page 66



Executive Summary

In 2017/18 the Independent Reviewing Service completed 5055 looked after child review 
meetings including initial and additional reviews following a placement change. The IRO 
Service has ensured timely reviews have taken place with 99.6% of reviews in timescale. IRO 
caseloads have averaged 63.2 during this period.

2017/18 saw an overall reduction in the number of looked after children with a significant 
number of young people who had presented as Unaccompanied Asylum- Seeking Children 
(UASC) turning 18 and requiring Care Leavers Services. The IRO Service has continued to 
work with partners in Health and Education as well as with the UASC Social Work Teams, to 
provide a comprehensive initial review for UASC young people. Where there has been delay 
in transfer as part of the National Transfer Scheme the IRO Service has continued to monitor 
and oversee the care planning for these young people.

The service to citizen children in care has been maintained and the IRO Service has focused 
its resources to carry out “added value” activities to support children and young people’s 
understanding and involvement in the care planning process. This has included IROs visiting 
young people between review meetings, IRO oversight between review meetings and we 
have begun the scheduling of midway review meetings to ensure care planning is in place. A 
formal midway review template is being devised to ensure consistency in practice.

IROs have been given “lead” roles to enable them to focus on and champion a key area of 
work with looked after children. Lead roles include participation; child sexual exploitation 
permanence; CAFCASS; family group conferencing/life-long links; fostering; adoption; 
disabled children and leaving care. This has enabled the establishment of closer district links 
to champion good practice.

There is a gender disparity with approximately 38% of the looked after population made up of 
girls/young women and around 62% made up of boys/young men.  Much of this is related to 
the UASC component where the majority are male. The ethnic component of the looked after 
population remains largely “white” at 1308 with 93 young people classified as “black” and a 
further sizeable group of 125 young people classified as “other”.

There is evidence of IRO challenge to poor care planning and standards through the use of 
both informal and formal escalations and this is an area where reflection on the value of 
challenge as a positive indicator of an active corporate scrutiny function has benefitted the 
organisation. IROs have used their experience and knowledge to scrutinise and challenge 
care plans and highlighted any concerns through their quality assurance role.

While the number of children who experience three or more placement moves has reduced 
since the previous year there remain a significant number of children who experience three 
or more placement moves after they become looked after. Currently this stands at a total of
188 (11.3% of the Looked After population of Kent). A total of 153 young people who 
experienced three or more placement moves are between the age of 12 and 17 years and 
factors include their later entry into the care system. A number of younger children have also 
had a number of placement moves primarily as a result of a move following a parent and 
child placement and move into foster care and then an adoptive/family placement.

Page 67



CYP who experienced 3 or more placement moves as at 31/03/2018

Age 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 Total
0 6 6
1 4 1 5
2 3 3
3 1 1
4 1 1
5 2 2
6 1 1
7 1 1
8 2 2 1 5
9 1 1

10 3 3
11 3 2 1 6
12 4 2 3 9
13 9 4 3 2 1 1 20
14 4 3 3 1 3 14
15 9 5 2 1 2 2 1 22
16 14 9 3 5 2 3 1 2 39
17 29 10 7 1 2 49

Total 97 38 22 9 5 9 3 4 1 188

Source: SCS Performance Management/Performance reports/Monthly Scorecard/View Child Level Data/LAC list as at 31/03/18

The IRO Service has a significant role to play in highlighting the availability and matching of 
children and young people with appropriately skilled carers and who are able to provide 
consistent and reparative care to young people who have complex care needs. The IRO 
Service will continue working closely with the Fostering Service and Children in Care social 
work teams to reflect on factors which put placement stability at risk, including educational 
stability, and consider how to support foster carers to strengthen placements and children’s 
sense of belonging.

During 2017/2018 there has been a strong drive within the county for young people to have 
consistent  and  coordinated  support  as  they  make  the  transition  as  care  leavers. 
Collaborative working arrangements between social work teams and the leaving care service 
are now in place and it is been helpful and reassuring to young people when a member of 
the leaving care service attend their review meeting prior to their 18th birthday so they know 
who their allocated Personal Advisor is before turning eighteen.

Some children and young people have complex needs and the early assessment and 
identification of these needs is key to ensuring early permanence. Achieving placement 
stability for looked after children demands that collaborative efforts are made and sustained 
by social workers, foster carers, supervising fostering social workers, IROs and our partners 
in education and health to support placements as part of the role as corporate parents.

Page 68



The Role and Responsibility of IROs

Part of the Council’s commitment to overseeing good outcomes for children and young 
people in our care is the continued investment in a strong Independent Reviewing Service. 
By doing so the Council continues to make sure that there is proper scrutiny of care plans so 
that they reflect each child and young person’s needs, that the actions required to achieve 
the plan are identified and implemented effectively and that the young person’s support 
network provides a cohesive response to their needs.

The IRO function and how it undertakes its role is set out in the Department for Education’s 
IRO Handbook, which forms part of the regulations and statutory guidance: Volume 2 of the 
“Children Act 1989 – Care Planning, Placement and Case Review”.

The statutory duties of the IRO as set out in Section 25B [1] of the Children Act 1989 are:

• Monitor the performance by the local authority of their functions in relation to the
child’s case.

• Participate (usually as chair) in any reviews of the child’s case.
• Ensure that any ascertained wishes and feelings of the child concerning the case are 

given due consideration by the appropriate authority.  IROs are expected to arrange 
to have contact with children in care before the day of their review meetings.

In addition, IROs have the power to:

• Adjourn reviews under Regulation 36(2) if they are satisfied that the local authority 
has not complied adequately with all the requirements relating to the review (such as 
consulting the child/young person, parents etc).

• Freeze  decisions  until  a  child  in  care  review  has  been  held  that  involve  any 
unplanned change to the child’s accommodation that would impact on their education 
(especially at key stage 4), changes of placement where the child has been settled 
and established for some time and changing their legal status before the age of 18 
years.

• Raise concerns through the local authority’s formal dispute resolution process, which
should have a timescale of no more than 20 days.

• Refer cases to the Children and Families Court Advisory Service (CAFCASS) under 
Regulation 45, which may include the use of a concurrent referral at the same time 
that they instigate a formal dispute resolution.

The IRO role is an independent one by its very nature and the IRO Service has a key role to 
play in ensuring that care planning is robust, does not result in drift; and through the Review 
process identifies pathways for rehabilitation to family care or other supports that enables a 
young person to cease to become looked after wherever possible. The IRO is expected to 
provide  robust  challenge  where  children’s  outcomes  are  being  hampered  across  the 
spectrum of service delivery by the Council and its partner agencies. The importance of the 
role  of  the  Corporate  Parent  is  reinforced  in  the  recent  statutory  guidance  for  local 
authorities:  “Applying  corporate  parenting  principles  to  looked-after  children  and  care 
leavers,” DfE February 2018. Kent as the Corporate Parent and its partners make a positive

Page 69



difference for children and young people in care by investing in them and holding those 
responsible for looking after young people accountable for the care and support provided. 
They also ensure that service planning takes account of their identified needs. As with any 
concerned parent, Kent wants the children and young people in care to achieve the best 
outcomes they can, to be happy and safe with the people they live with and who care for 
them and to have a positive sense of themselves as young citizens in communities that 
value them.

Kent County Council IRO Service

The IRO Service is part of Children’s Social Work Services and sits within the 
Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Unit. The day to day running of the IRO Service is 
undertaken by two Quality Assurance Managers under the management of the Safeguarding 
Quality Assurance Service Manager who reports to the Assistant Director for Safeguarding 
and Quality Assurance.

There are two IRO teams which are coterminous with two operational areas apiece: North
West and South East.

Within Kent, the IRO function is separate from the Independent Child Protection Chairs 
Service. IROs may, in certain circumstance chair CP conferences where the child has 
become looked after under the IRO/CP chair agreed protocol.

In 2017/18 the settled establishment was planned to be 29 full time or equivalent IROs with 
an average caseload of up to 63.2. With a number of young people turning eighteen and 
with others being part of the National Transfer Scheme, the IRO Service has been able to 
reduce its unaccompanied asylum-seeking agency IRO staff over the year. During this time 
the service has continued to respond to the number of unaccompanied asylum seeking 
children placed within Kent ensuring reviews take place within timescales, and, where 
dispersal is delayed, the completion of a further looked after review meeting where required. 
IROs have worked alongside interpreters to ensure the voice of the child and participation 
encouraged.

226 children and young people are placed out of county and IROs have continued to review 
and provide oversight of these children.

Ongoing Development of IROs

All IROs receive regular individual supervision including ad hoc supervision from the IRO 
Quality Assurance Managers. IROs also participate in group supervision which provides a 
peer mentoring element to the process where IROs can discuss and identify good practice 
or highlight areas of difficulty using a Signs of Safety based approach. There is a monthly 
meeting schedule split into bi-monthly team meetings alternating with bi-monthly IRO group 
supervision and there are quarterly countywide IRO practice meetings. These are well 
attended and provide a forum for practice development and maintain a county-wide cohesion 
in the IRO group. IRO county meetings are held every 6 months.

Page 70



An annual IRO “away day” took place in October 2017 and enabled the service to reflect on 
progress, look at key areas of development and focus on practice improvements and service 
delivery. The most recent away day focused on:

• Sharing good practice experiences – examples of what good practice looks like and what 
we do to make a difference to children in care.

• Listening to lived experiences of children in care which included a presentation by VSK
apprentices.

• Achieving a planned and smooth transition for care leavers including an update on 
legislation, research and guidance.

Throughout the year IROs have been trained in Signs of Safety and the Quality Assurance 
Managers are designated Practice Leads. IROs have also completed mandatory training on 
data protection/information governance, child sexual exploitation and Prevent. County IRO 
practice/team meetings have included updates on transitions for disabled children; liaison 
with Cafcass; Life Long Links; role of the LADO and evaluation meetings; Mind of My Own 
(MOMO); vulnerable adult protocol and the mental capacity act and transitions for disabled 
children.

As part of service self-evaluation, the IRO Quality Assurance Managers undertake regular 
supervision with each IRO including case file discussion within supervision and observation 
of a review meeting. The findings from these case file audits and observations are used to 
provide feedback during supervision.

The IRO Quality Assurance Managers attend area Child in Care panels; local multi-agency 
Adolescent Risk Management panels; County Child in Care Service meetings; Adoption 
Operational Group meetings; area based/district meetings; Independent Visitor Service 
meetings.

Over the last year the IRO Service has contributed to a number of thematic audits including 
looked after children known to the Youth Justice System, KSCB follow up Early Help audit; 
Central Referral Unit audit; Care Order application audit; and the fostering thematic audit. 
The IRO Service has also contributed to updates on local procedures for looked after 
children and produce an IRO Newsletter highlighting key themes for good care planning.

A quarterly IRO Newsletter was launched last year and provides the opportunity to share key 
themes and good practice in care planning. The newsletter has included a focus on 
transitions for looked after children and care leavers; life story work and later life letters; 
consultation forms for review meetings and notifying IROs of significant events.

IROs have “lead” roles which are designed to work with the service areas on promoting 
practice. Lead roles include family group conferencing/life-long links; participation; 
unaccompanied asylum- seeking children; fostering; adoption; child sexual exploitation; 
CAFCASS; prevent; permanence; care leavers; education; health; youth justice. There are 
also IRO links with district teams to promote and share good practice and areas for 
development as demonstrated in an IRO workshop on Identity at the second Kent Beyond 
the Margins equality and diversity conference.

Page 71



The IRO Service has worked closely with Virtual School Kent (VSK) to support participation 
and activities for looked after children and young people including their attendance at looked 
after children council meetings. Young people are also involved in the recruitment of IROs 
and we have worked with VSK apprentices on the re-design of the Kent Cares Town
website.

The IRO Service contributed to the planning and delivery of the Transition Workshop in 
September 2017 on the preparation for independence of care leavers aimed at foster carers 
and other professionals. The service completed a survey on the attendance and preparation 
of reviews by fostering social workers and foster carers. The IRO Manager’s also presented 
at the Fostering Appreciation Awards in October 2017 and the Safe Care Seminar in 
December 2017 aimed at external providers.

Over the year the IRO Service has further reviewed the IRO minutes template and are 
working on a revised IRO QA form for implementation in 2018 and an expected go-live date 
of 1st November 2018. Work has also begun on the invitation letters to review meetings for 
children and young people to ensure these are child centred and encourage participation in 
their review meetings alongside the invitation letters to parents, foster carers and adopters. 
This has been done in co-production with VSK apprentices and young people.

The NW IRO Quality Assurance Manager has continued as the co-chair for the South East 
IRO Managers Group (SEIRO) which feeds into the National IRO Managers group (NAIRO) 
and meet quarterly. The two IRO QA managers attend the SEIRO managers meeting.

Service Demographics

700

600

Current number of LAC as at 31/03/2018

57

500

400

300

200

100

0

49

194

34

312

607
50

311

39

Asylum

Kent

North South East West SUASC Central

Source: SCS Performance Management/Scheduled reports/Current LAC List _0080

Page 72



1653

White Mixed Asian Black Other
1,308 85 42 93 125

1950

1900

1850

1800

1750

1700

1650

1600

1550

1500

Comparison Number of LAC 2016/17 & 2017/18

1894

2016/17 2017/18

Source: SCS Performance Management/Scheduled reports/Current LAC List _0080

The number of children and young people in care at year end was 1653.  1424 are Citizen 
Children and 229 are Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC). 39 UASC are held 
within the SUASC Central Teams. The reduction in this group is accounted for by the 
number of young people who turned 18 in January 2018 and the current voluntary dispersal 
scheme in operation which has young people move to the care of other authorities.

Children in Care by Gender/Ethnicity /Age

By Gender                                                                         By Ethnicity
Case holding

Teams Girls Boys
Kent 636 1,017

Source: SCS Performance Management/Scheduled reports/Current LAC List _0080

There is a gender disparity with 38% of the CIC population made up of girls/young women 
and 62% made up of boys/young men.

Page 73



64
80

38
34 32 24 28 37 30 38

56

67
35

59
55

55
48

60
58

74
39

77 83 10
2

10
0 12

7

12
9 15

7

36
41

27
55

38
39

35
42

22
6

45
22

30
9

58
33

350

LAC by age as at 31 03 18

300

250

200

150

100

50

0
0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10    11    12    13    14    15    16    17

Source: SCS Performance Management/Scheduled reports/Current LAC List _0080

There is a clear increase in accommodations when young people reach age 9 years and 
includes those children who transfer into specialist residential/educational provision related 
to disability, and who then become classed as Looked After Children under Section 20 (4)
Children Act 1989.

Voluntary Accommodation (Section 20) at the 
point of becoming looked after

90
80
70
60
50
40
30
20
10

0

2016/7 2017/8

Source: SCS Performance Management/Performance reports/ Monthly Scorecard/View Child Level Data/LAC starts in the las t
12 months

Page 74



Care Order at the point of becoming 
looked after.

5

4

3
2 2

2
1 1 1 1 1

1

4

3

2

1 1 1 1

0 0 0
0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

2016/7 2017/8

Source: SCS Performance Management/Performance reports/ Monthly Scorecard/View Child Level Data/LAC starts in the last
12 months

Police protection at the point of
becoming looked after.

16
14
12 10
10

8
6 12
4 12
0

6 14 5 4
7

2

8 9 8 9

6 5
11

7 7 6 2
4 2 2 2

2016/7 2017/8

Source: SCS Performance Management/Performance reports/ Monthly Scorecard/View Child Level Data/LAC starts in the last
12 months

Section 20 (Voluntary accommodation at the point of becoming looked after)

IROs have continued to scrutinise Section 20 arrangements and the plans for permanency 
for children in care to prevent drift and consider alternative options for the young person’s 
care.

Staying Put

The “Staying Put” policy offers support to young people leaving care and an opportunity to 
remain living in their foster placement for a period of time after their 18th birthday. The IRO 
Service has supported the planning for Staying Put as an option for young people and their 
foster carers prior to transition to the 18+ Service and Staying Put as an option is becoming

Page 75



more prevalent within Kent with 69 Staying Put arrangements in place in 2017/18, compared 
with 68 in 2016/17 and 49 in 2015/16.

It is important that early discussions are held as part of the Pathway Planning process 
including the plans by the foster carer, their continued commitment to the young person and 
understanding of the financial implications and change in role. Eligibility criteria for the 
continued funding of fostering placements has been raised for young people who are more 
vocational.

 Children Leaving Care

A total of 1057 children/young people left the care system during 2017/2018 compared to
1339 who left the care system during 2016/17.  An analysis of children who ceased to be
Looked After during 2017/18 indicated:

25.9% (274) returned to the care of their parents compared to 24.2% in 2016/17

3.9% (41) Special Guardianship orders compared to 4% in 2016/17.

9.3% (98) were adopted compared to 5.9% in 2016/17.

29% (307) 18 plus moving on to independent living compared to 31.9% in 2016/17.

25.4% (268) SUAC becoming 18 years of age/dispersal scheme compared with 30.7% in
2016/17.

Source: SCS Performance Management/Performance reports/ Monthly Scorecard/View Child Level Data/LAC ends in the last
12 months

There are a number of unaccompanied asylum-seeking children were placed in London and 
now  reaching  eighteen.  Some  do  not  wish  to  return  to  Kent  having  established  local 
networks. The options for suitable local accommodation have been raised with the local 
authority.

IRO Caseloads

The average IRO caseload over 2017/18 was 63.2 includes the spread of cases across the 
whole IRO Service including those who hold UASC caseloads. Caseloads have reduced in 
the latter part of the year primarily due to the number of young people leaving care including 
through adoption.

IRO visits to children between their reviews increased to 1118 in the 2017/18 year from 1072 
in the previous year. These visits provide an opportunity for children and young people to 
share their views about their review meeting, whether they know their care plan and 
understand what it means. The children and young people are also given the opportunity to 
raise any matters of concern about the progress of their care plan with their IRO.

The total number of reviews chaired by IROs in the year April 2017 to March 2018 was 5055 
including initial and additional reviews following a placement change.

Page 76



99.7%

IRO practice and performance, including findings from feedback surveys

100.1%
100.0%

Reviews chaired within timescale
April 17 - March 18

99.9%
99.8%
99.7%
99.6%

100.0%

99.7%99.8% 99.8%

100.0%

99.7%

99.7%

99.7% 99.7% 99.5%

99.5%
99.4%
99.3%
99.2%
99.1%
99.0%
98.9%
98.8%

99.8%
99.3%

99.2%

99.8% 99.6%

99.1%

99.3%

99.2%

99.6% 99.4%

99.3% 99.5%

98.7%
98.6%
98.5%
98.4%
98.3%
98.2%
98.1%

 98.7% 

Apr-17   May-17   Jun-17 Jul-17    Aug-17   Sep-17   Oct-17   Nov-17   Dec-17    Jan-18    Feb-18   Mar-18

Kent incl UASC Kent excl UASC

Between  April  2017  and  March  2018  the  IRO  Service  chaired  99.6%  reviews  within 
timescale. The IRO Service has remained committed to ensure timely completion of all 
review meetings, reflected in table above.

Between April 2017 and March 2018 91.4% of minutes and 84.3% of outcomes were 
completed within timescale.

Source: SCS Performance Management/Performance reports/ Monthly Scorecard/View Child Level Data/LAC reviews held in 
the last 12 months

Participation and Consultation:

Participation at review April 17 to March 18

PN6 32.0% 47.5% 20.5%

PN5

PN3

PN2

36.4%

22.2%

52.0%

46.2%

61.1%

28.0%

17.4%

16.7%

20.0%

5-9 Yrs

10-15 Yrs

16+ Yrs

PN1 7.3% 41.6% 51.1%

Key: PN1 Child attended & spoke for self. PN2 Child attended – advocate spoke. PN3 Child attended – gave views non- 
verbally. PN5 Child not attended advocate briefed with views. PN6 Child not attended views sent.

Source: SCS Performance Management/Performance reports/ Monthly Scorecard/View Child Level Data/LAC reviews held in 
the last 12 months

Page 77



• (A) Participation of child/young person at Statutory Review= 95.3% (children aged 4 
years and younger not included)

• (B) Children and young people chairing their own review meetings:

• Full:  4.5% (2016/17 4.0%) Part: 14.3% (2016/17 11.3%)

(A)   Source:  SCS  Performance  Management/Performance  reports/  Monthly  Scorecard/View  Child  Level  Data/LAC
reviews held in the last 12 months

(B)   Source: SCS Performance Management/Performance reports/ Monthly Scorecard/View Child Level Data/IRO QA 
Child Level Data

Children and young people are encouraged by their IROs, social worker and foster carer to 
participate in their reviews most spoke for themselves or an advocate attended with them or 
acted on their behalf.

• (A) Leaving care surveys: 97 replies received in 2017/18, an increase of 13 on 
the 2016/17 figure of 84.

• (B) Feedback from foster carers: 308 replies received in 2017/18 which is an 
increase of 31 on the 2016/17 figure of 277.

• (C) Feedback from parents: 29 replies received in 2017/18 which is an increase 
of 5 on the 2016/17 figure of 24.

• (D) Feedback from staff: 146 replies received in 2017/18 which is an increase of
26 on the 2016/17 figure of 120.

(A)   Source: K:\CFE LAC Independent Reviewing Service/Dean/Quarterly Reports/2017 Q1 Apr to June/IRO-Leaving Care
2017-18 Q1 & 2017 Q2 Jul to Sep/IRO-Leaving Care 2017-18 Q2 & 2017 Q3 Oct to Dec/IRO-Leaving Care 2017-18 Q3
& 2017 Q4 Jan to Mar/IRO-Leaving Care 2017-18 Q4

(B)   Source: K:\CFE LAC Independent Reviewing Service/Dean/Quarterly Reports/2017 Q1 Apr to June/Foster Carer-Staff- 
Parents-Survey-b-2017-18 Q1 & 2017 Q2 Jul to Sep/Foster Carer-Staff-Parents-Survey-b 2017-18 Q2 & 2017 Q3 Oct to 
Dec/Foster Carer-Staff-Parents-Survey-b 2017-18 Q3 & 2017 Q4 Jan to Mar/ Foster Carer-Staff-Parents-Survey-b
2017-18 Q4

(C)   Source: K:\CFE LAC Independent Reviewing Service/Dean/Quarterly Reports/2017 Q1 Apr to June/Foster Carer-Staff- 
Parents-Survey-b-2017-18 Q1 & 2017 Q2 Jul to Sep/Foster Carer-Staff-Parents-Survey-b 2017-18 Q2 & 2017 Q3 Oct to 
Dec/Foster Carer-Staff-Parents-Survey-b 2017-18 Q3 & 2017 Q4 Jan to Mar/ Foster Carer-Staff-Parents-Survey-b
2017-18 Q4

(D) Source: K:\CFE LAC Independent Reviewing Service/Dean/Quarterly Reports/2017 Q1 Apr to June/Foster Carer-Staff- 
Parents-Survey-b-2017-18 Q1 & 2017 Q2 Jul to Sep/Foster Carer-Staff-Parents-Survey-b 2017-18 Q2 & 2017 Q3 Oct to 
Dec/Foster Carer-Staff-Parents-Survey-b 2017-18 Q3 & 2017 Q4 Jan to Mar/ Foster Carer-Staff-Parents-Survey-b
2017-18 Q4

Whilst the participation of children and young people in their reviews is good at 95.3%, there 
continues to be a need to improve performance in relation to young people actively 
chairing/part chairing their reviews. Feedback from foster carers using the Foster Carer 
Consultation Form should be submitted five working days before the review meeting. This 
needs to improve and the timeliness and content quality assured by their fostering social 
worker. Feedback from parents has risen over the year and needs to continue to be actively 
sought.

Leaving care surveys have shown an increase over the year and there is a need for IROs to 
continue to promote the completion of the survey.

Media platforms such as the MOMO (Mind of My Own) app achieve greater engagement and 
participation by young people in their review meeting preparation and enable young people 
to have their voice heard within the care planning process and empower children and young 

Page 78



people to take control of their lives.

Achieving Permanence

Close collaborative work between the IROs, adoption, fostering and social work teams has 
been  maintained  to  achieve  early  permanency  for  young  children  and  an  increase  in 
adoptive placements noted over the year. IROs have established closer links with children’s 
guardians through the IRO lead role including practice discussion meetings to consider 
obstacles in the way of achieving early permanency for children who become looked after. 
IROs have actively promoted early permanency planning for children including family group 
conferencing to consider all care options available to children before children become looked 
after. For children who are unable to return home IROs are promoting life-long links in 
liaison with family group conference service.

Life Story Books and Later Life Letters

The need for children who are looked after to have access to life story books and later life 
letters has been actively promoted by IROs. IROs are continuing to track progress of the 
completion of life story books and later life letters at and in between review meetings.   The 
provision of life story work with children placed in long term foster care continues to be 
encouraged by IROs.

Access to Independent Visitors

The County’s commitment to providing an independent visiting service to Children who are 
looked after has continued and during 2017/2018 a total of 62 children have been linked in 
with an independent visitor attached to the Young Lives Foundation.  In recognition of the 
added value this service holds for children who have not been able to maintain strong links 
with their birth families or are placed out of county, the IRO Service meets with Young Lives 
Foundation throughout the year to review the impact of befriending and visiting on the lives 
of the children they support.

Page 79



IRO Dispute Resolution/Escalations

DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCESSES 2017/18

DR Category DR 1 DR 2 DR 3 Total
Care Plan/Pathway Plan 7.5% 1.3% 1.3% 10.1%
Chronology 1.9% 0.6% 0.6% 3.1%
Communication 0.6% 0.0% 0.0% 0.6%
Contact 0.6% 0.0% 0.0% 0.6%
Drift 0.6% 0.0% 0.0% 0.6%
Education 3.1% 0.6% 0.0% 3.8%
Health 0.6% 0.0% 0.0% 0.6%
Life Story Work 1.3% 0.0% 0.0% 1.3%
No Permanency Planning Meeting 3.1% 1.3% 0.0% 4.4%
Other 15.1% 1.9% 0.6% 17.6%
Permanence 1.9% 0.0% 0.0% 1.9%
Placement Plan 0.6% 0.0% 0.0% 0.6%
Pre-Meeting Report not there 40.3% 3.8% 0.6% 44.7%
Promotion of Interests 0.6% 0.0% 0.0% 0.6%
Placement with Parents 0.0% 0.6% 0.0% 0.6%
Safety 0.6% 0.0% 0.0% 0.6%
Stable Placement 6.9% 0.6% 0.6% 8.2%
Total 85.5% 10.7% 3.8% 100.0%

There were 159 formal dispute resolutions (DR’s) issued in 2017/18, with the majority being 
resolved at Level 1 and 2.

A small number were escalated to Level 3, but none were so intractable that the dispute 
progressed higher. The majority of DR’s were rooted in a lack of completing Pre-Meeting 
Reports within the required timeframe. Further areas for resolution were the Care 
Plan/Pathway Plan processes, usually around the timeliness of their preparation but also in 
some cases about the quality of the content.

Source: K:\CFE LAC Independent Reviewing Service/Dean/Data for reports/2018/IRO-Reviews-QAs-DR April 17 to Mar 18

Page 80



Social work performance and practice

CiC for at least 18 months with same SW last 12 
months

50%

40%

51.5%

42.3% 44.2%

30%

20%

10%

0%
Incl UASC Excl UASC

Mar-17 Mar-18

Source:  SCS  Performance  Management/Performance  reports/  Monthly  Scorecard/View  Child  Level  Data/LAC  list  as  at
31/03/18

Impact of Staff Turnover

There has been an increase in the number of children with the same social worker in the last 
12 months who have been looked after for over 18 months.  Repeated changes of social 
worker make it difficult for children and young people to establish relationships with 
someone they feel they can trust and can impact on care planning. Generally, IROs have 
remained consistent professionals in the children and young peoples’ lives who are looked 
after and especially important when there have also been placement moves.

Late Notifications of Care Entry

A late notification is defined as 3 or more working days after the child has come in to 
care. A delay in the IRO Service being notified promptly delays an IRO being appointed and 
makes it harder to ensure that the initial review takes place on time. In 2017/18 there were 
145 late notifications, an increase of 70 of the previous year. Notification details have 
been reinforced with the district teams and their managers and included in the IRO 
Newsletter.

Source:  K:\CFE  LAC  Independent  Reviewing  Service/Admin/NW/Initials  North  West  2018  &  K:\CFE  LAC  Independent
Reviewing Service/Admin/SE/Initials South East (NEW) – 2017_2018

Page 81



34
.6

%
65

.4
%

29
.6

%
70

.4
%

33
.2

%
66

.8
%

30
.3

%
69

.7
%

33
.6

%
66

.4
%

24
.0

%
76

.0
%

28
.6

%
71

.4
%

23
.2

%
76

.8
%

24
.8

%
75

.2
%

26
.6

%
73

.4
%

19
.6

%
80

.4
%

20
.9

%
79

.1
%

Performance

IROs Quality Assurance Grading of CIC Care Plans:

Good or Better – 72.4% - 3096 out of 4279. This is an increase of 2.9% on the 2016/17 
period.

Requiring Improvement to Good- 23.6% - 1008 out of 4279. This is a decrease of 1.7% for 
the 2016/17 period.

Inadequate- 4.1% - 175 out of 4279. This is a decrease of 1.3% for the 2016/17 period.

Source: SCS Performance Management/Performance reports/Monthly Scorecard/View Child Level Data/IRO QA child level 
data

Care Plans:

The IRO Review QA process and Monthly Quality Assurance audits demonstrate that the 
quality of planning for Children in Care has improved in the last year in the Good or 
Better category. Care planning rated as inadequate has decreased. IROs will continue to 
work closely with social workers to ensure performance in this area continues to
increase.

90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%

0%

Grading of Care Plans April 17 - March 18

Inadequate/Requiring Improvement Good/Outstanding

Source: SCS Performance Management/Performance reports/Monthly Scorecard/View Child Level Data/IRO QA child level 
data

Page 82



Has the Care Plan been shared with the child/young person 
and are their views recorded?

78.2%

87.4%

2016/17

2017/18

Source: SCS Performance Management/Performance reports/Monthly Scorecard/View Child Level Data/IRO QA child level 
data

Care Plan been shared with the child/young person and are their views recorded

2017/18 saw a decrease of 9.2% of Care Plans which were shared with the child/young 
person and their views recorded when compared to 2016/17. Social worker performance in 
this area of practice needs to improve ensuring the voice of the child is heard and recorded, 
they know what their care plan is and understand what it means for them.

Source: SCS Performance Management/Performance reports/Monthly Scorecard/View Child
Level Data/IRO QA child level data

Care Plan / PWP implemented within child/young person’s timeframe:

Is the Care Plan/PWP being implemented within the 
child/yp's timeframe?

90.7%
89.0% 2016/17

2017/18

2017/18 saw an increase of 1.7% of Care Plan/PWP being implemented within the child/ 
young person’s timeframe when compared to 2016/17.

Source: SCS Performance Management/Performance reports/Monthly Scorecard/View Child Level Data/IRO QA child level 
data

Page 83



11.6%

1.9%

Child Focused Practice:

90%

80%

70%

60%

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

0%

QA Grading of Child Focused Practice

78.8% 77.5%

2016/17 2017/18

Good or better

Inadequate

2017/8 saw a slight decrease of 1.3% of Child Focused Practice being graded as Good or 
better when compared to 2016/7. However, there was a decrease of inadequate gradings.

Source: SCS Performance Management/Performance reports/Monthly Scorecard/View Child Level Data/IRO QA child level 
data

Change of Review Dates

Looked after meeting review dates agreed at the previous review are maintained wherever 
possible.  Any  change  of  date  requires  the  views  of  the  child/young  person  and  the 
agreement of the local area Assistant Director and the Assistant Director for Safeguarding 
and Quality Assurance to ensure that reviews do not change without good reason and held 
within the required timescales.

Page 84



What children and young people told us during the past year:

The Child in Care Survey and Participation Report has given insight into what young people 
feel about their care experience. Taking findings from Quarters 1/2/3 & 4 this is what children 
and young people said.

“They put the right things in 
place
i.e. somewhere to live.”

“They made me 
understand 
situations, gave me 
advice and helped 
me.”

“They gave me 
their time.”

“Great help and 
support 
throughout my 
time in care.”

“Very 
supportive with 
everything 
including 
education and 
contact.”

“They all worked 
together as a team 
to help me. They are 
people that have 
known me for a long 
time.”

“Always 
supported me 
through 
tough times 
and nice 
times.”

49% of young people in care felt happy most of the time, but a significant proportion of young 
people who responded in Consultations also said they were Sad/Worried/Angry/ Confused. 
The IRO explores with young people whether they have concerns which need to be 
addressed within their review meeting.

76% of young people who responded felt that they see their social worker at the right 
frequency but around 11% of young people do not feel that they see enough of their social 
workers.

86% of young people were aware of the Complaints process. 56% were aware of “Our 
Children & Young People’s Council” and 49% were aware of the Kent Pledge.

Children and young people consultation booklets are available in 5 different languages to 
cater for the Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children we work with.

Page 85



Children and young people will continue to be encouraged and supported by IROs and 
social workers to take an active part in their reviews, including the number of children who 
chair all or part of their Review.

Source: K:\CFE LAC Independent Reviewing Service/Dean/Quarterly Reports/2017 Q1 Apr to June/CYP-Consultation-b-2017-
2018-Q1 & 2017 Q2 Jul to Sep/ CYP-Consultation-b-2017-2018-Q2 & 2017 Q3 Oct to Dec/ CYP-Consultation-b-2017-2018-Q3
& 2017 Q4 Jan to Mar/ CYP-Consultation-b-2017-2018-Q4

Conclusion:

Over the course of the year, the IRO Service have recruited permanent IROs reducing the 
number of agency staff. IROs have continued to monitor and scrutinise the care plans for 
looked after children to ensure the care plans are meeting the identified needs of children 
and young people. IRO caseloads have reduced over the year which will provide more 
opportunity for IRO case oversight and scrutiny including the completion of midway review 
meetings to challenge any delay or drift in the care plan

Some children continue to have complex needs which may require specialist support from 
health and education services. The IRO Service will continue to use a formal dispute 
resolution process to highlight any areas of challenge to improve outcomes for children.

Achieving placement stability for children and young people in care will need to remain a 
priority for the IRO Service. The IRO QA form is being reviewed focusing on key areas of the 
child’s placement and plan for permanence.

Participation of children and young people within their review meetings will remain a key 
area for the service ensuring their voices heard and that they understand their care plan. 
Parental involvement at child in care reviews will be promoted where appropriate.

The service will remain aspirational for children in care and ensure they have the best 
experience whilst being looked after.

Page 86



Appendix 1

What’s working well?

• The total number of reviews chaired by IROs in the year April 2017 to March 2018 
was 5055 including initial and additional reviews following a placement change.

• There is evidence of IRO challenge to poor care planning and standards.
• During 2017/2018, there has been a continued drive within the county for young 

people to have consistent and coordinated support as they make the transition to 
independent living. Collaborative working arrangements between social work and the 
leaving care service are improving. It is helpful and reassuring to young people to 
have their allocated Personal Assistants meet them before their 18th birthday and for 
a member of the leaving care service attend their review meeting prior to their 18th 
birthday.

• IROs are monitoring the care plans of children and young people who have complex 
care needs.

• IRO oversight of care plans has increased with midway reviews/IRO oversight now 
formally recorded and monitored.

• The IRO Service has continued to review and monitor UASC including those who are 
part of the National Dispersal Scheme.

• Between April 2017 and March 2018, the IRO Service chaired 99.6% reviews within 
timescale. The IRO Service has remained committed to ensure timely completion of 
all review meetings.

• 95.3% of children and young people participated in their review meetings.
• Children and young people are consistently encouraged to chair or part -chair their 

reviews.
• IROs have lead roles in key service areas including participation, exploitation, 

permanence and lifelong links.

What needs to change?

• Foster carers need to consistently complete and submit foster carer consultation 
forms 5 days before the review meeting and quality assured by their fostering social 
worker.

• Encourage parents’ participation at the review meeting and completion of
consultation forms.

• Pre-meeting reports need to be completed in a timely manner (3 working days before 
the review) showing the progress of the children based on an assessment of their 
needs.

• The pre-meeting report needs to reflect the signs of safety model and this approach 
used consistently by social workers and IROs.

• IROs’ minutes should be child centred, shorter and reflect the progress of the child 
and what needs to happen and by when

• IRO outcomes and minutes should be completed within timescales and distributed in 
a timely way.

• IROs need to be informed consistently of significant events in the child/family’s life 
by their allocated social worker.

• Early and good communication between the social worker and IRO before the review 
meeting.

• Working collaboratively with social work teams, fostering service and partners in 
education and health to strengthen placements and achieve permanence.

• Ensure suitable and timely accommodation for young people leaving care.

Page 87



• Sustaining consistent oversight and monitoring of care plans, challenging drift of 
delay in achieving permanence for children and young people.

• Reviewing invitation letters to children and young people, foster carers and parents to 
encourage attendance to reviews and participation.

• IROs will continue to contribute to permanency planning meetings and will be 
challenging the fostering service and professional networks around young people to 
strengthen placement stability for children and young people who have complex care 
needs.

• Learning from disruption meetings needs to be shared within the district and 
countywide by the child in care service.

• The service must focus on setting the consistent standards expected across the
County and holding areas accountable.

• Knowing the wishes and feelings of our children and young people and helping them 
to participate fully in their review must remain a priority. The IRO, with the Social 
Worker, needs to encourage many more young people to actively chair their reviews.

• IRO escalation and challenge needs to be recorded consistently and highlight 
progress through the stages of escalation until resolved and recorded on Liberi.

• Midway reviews need to be consistently scheduled, recorded on Liberi and reported 
on by management information.

• Distribution of review minutes need to be consistently circulated in a timely way to 
participants.

• Placement Plans need to be consistently completed before or within 5 days of 
placement and updated when children change placement or experience a change of 
circumstances.

• Individualised safe care plans need to be completed for children and shared with 
them.

• Early permanency planning meeting need to take place prior to a child becoming 
looked after.

Page 88



From:           Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and 
Education.

Matt Dunkley, CBE, Corporate Director for Children, Young People and 
Education.

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 1st November 2018

Subject: Children in Care with Education Health and Care Plans (EHCP) 
exclusions

Classification: Unrestricted

Summary: This report provides Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel with an 
overview of 2017-18 exclusions for Children in Care, highlighting those 
with an Education Health Care Plan (EHCP). 

Recommendation: The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to NOTE the work of the virtual 
school in reducing exclusions for children in care.

1 Introduction

1.1 This report has been prepared for the Corporate Parenting Panel to provide a focus on 
Kent Children in Care in relation to:

 
a) Exclusions 
b) Those with an Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP) and receiving Exclusions

1.2 VSK support the Social Care teams in promoting the educational achievement of Kent 
Children in Care (CIC) and so our joint work is essential especially for this particularly 
vulnerable cohort. The aim of gathering this data and the resulting analysis is to identify 
areas for development and support planning from a Corporate Parenting perspective. 
The general data was gathered by Management Information; data from Welfare Call was 
added for Attendance indicators and the VSK SENCOs added further localised 
knowledge around the cohort of Kent CIC with an EHCP to aid more detailed analysis. 

1.3 This is a sub report using data from the original report in request to the two specific focus 
areas of Kent CIC with Exclusions and those with EHCP receiving Exclusions. It uses 
data from the whole academic year 2017-18 to capture the full picture of exclusions.

2 Exclusions for Kent Children in Care

2.1 Permanent Exclusions for Kent CIC was zero in the academic year 2017-18; this 
indicator was also zero in the two previous academic years.

2.2 In the academic year 2017-18 Kent CIC had a total of 692.5 days of education lost to 
Fixed Term Exclusions (FTEs).  In the previous academic year, 2016-17, Kent CIC had a 
total of 717.5 days of education lost to FTEs and so the figures indicate an improvement 
of 25 days or a 3.5 % reduction in days lost to FTEs with a comparable size cohort.  

Page 89

Agenda Item 14



2.3 November, March and June were the months where FTEs peaked. Interestingly these 
months represent a consistent pattern through the academic year i.e. every 3 months 
and mostly towards the end of the long term. This trend was reflected in the previous 
academic year’s data also.

2.4 The county data indicates that most FTE (days lost) were received in the North Kent and 
Medway schools and that least FTE (days lost) were received in the South West Kent 
area comprised of Ashford and Tunbridge Wells schools. However, it should be noted 
that these two areas had very different numbers of Kent CIC and on calculation the FTE 
ratio per Kent CIC is indicated to be almost equal for each area.

2.5 Kent CIC placed in Out of County schools (not including Medway) received 69.5 days of 
FTEs in the academic year 2017-18 and this indicates that this cohort were much more 
likely to receive an FTE than their cohort placed in Kent. This is no surprise as 29.6% of 
Kent CIC with an EHCP and placed in an OOC school were awaiting a Change of 
Placement i.e. a new specialist provision due to difficulties succeeding in their current 
specialist school.

3 Exclusions for Kent CIC with an Education Health and Care Plan

3.1 There were zero Permanent Exclusions for Kent CIC with an EHCP in the academic year 
2017-18; this indicator was also zero in the two previous academic years.

3.2 In the Academic Year 2017-18 nearly 28% of Kent CIC in the cohort of Statutory School 
Years teams had an EHCP - and this was predicted to rise to 31.4% once the EHCP 
process was completed for a further 37 children. This is a significantly high proportion of 
children compared to the average for all learners nationally (about 1%)

3.3 Of the 296 Kent CIC with an EHCP, 222 (75%) had their needs met in a specialist / 
independent provision. 

3.4 The data indicated that 9.62% of the total cohort had had an FTE period (Fixed Term 
Exclusion), but nearly 11% of the young people with an EHCP had had an FTE period i.e. 
more than 1 in 10 of our students with complex special educational needs was not coping 
well with the boundaries in their school and as a result was missing school days. 

4 Areas currently being developed

4.1 Escalation Meetings between Area SEN Manager, VSK Deputy Head / SENCO and Area 
Children & Young People’s Service Manager are held regularly to resolve complex cases 
and promote collaborative relationships. (This Escalation Meeting process is now 
established for the academic year 2018-19 across the whole county.)

4.2 Training to be provided for Social Workers and Foster Carers on the SEN Code of 
Practice and Exclusions guidance to aid their understanding of SEN processes.

4.3 Social Workers and Foster Carers to have information on the Reduced Time Table 
guidance from KCC so that those with Parental Responsibility can support or challenge 
as appropriate. 

Page 90



4.4 VSK completed a review of the service provided to Kent CIC placed Out of County and 
identified this as an area of vulnerability. As an outcome of the review, a dedicated 
Senior Educational Support Officer has been appointed for the academic year 2018-19 to 
support children and young people placed outside of Kent. 

4.5 The SEN process for working across Local Authority boundaries is shared with Social 
Care teams so that the necessary financial and transport arrangements needed are 
clear.

5 DATA
 

5.1   TOTAL COHORT Academic Year 2017-18

Cohort of Kent Children in Care Numbers
Statutory School Years 1060

Special Educational Needs for Kent CIC in the Statutory School Years (SSY)
SEN Numbers % of total 

cohort
Have HNF (High Needs funding) 26 2.5%
EHCP is finalised 296 27.9%
No EHCP 764 72.1%
EHCP is in process / draft 37 3.5%

Engagement with Education (Kent CIC in SSY)
Indicator Numbers % of total 

cohort
Pupils who have had an FTE this academic year 102 9.62%

5.2 Kent Children in Care with EHCP (Statutory School Years - SSY) 2017-18

Indicator for those with EHCP Number % of EHCP SSY 
cohort

Cohort size 296  (100%)
Placed Out Of County 42 14.2%
Out Of County School 37 12.5%
HNF agreed 13 4.4%
Attending a specialist (or specialist independent) 
provision

222 75%

Young People who have had FTE this academic year 32 10.8%

6. Conclusion 

Recommendation: The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to NOTE the work of the 
Virtual School Kent in reducing exclusions for children in care.

7. Contact Details

Report Author
Tony Doran
Headteacher VSK
03000 414871

Page 91

tel:03000%20414871


Tony.Doran@kent.gov.uk

Lead Officer
Caroline Smith 

  Interim Assistant Director of Corporate Parenting
03000 415091
Caroline.Smith@kent.gov.uk 

Lead Director
Sarah Hammond
Director of Integrated Children’s Services – East (Social Work Lead)
03000 411488
Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk 

Page 92

mailto:Tony.Doran@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Caroline.Smith@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk

	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 19 September 2018
	Item 4 - September CPP Minutes - Appendix - OCYPC update

	8 Verbal Update by Cabinet Member
	9 Challenge Card Update
	10 Performance Scorecard for Children in Care
	Item 10 - Appendix A - Performance Scorecard for Children in Care

	11 The Corporate Parenting Annual Report September 2018
	Item 11 - Appendix A - The Corporate Parenting Annual Report September 2018

	12 Update on Mind Of My Own App for Children in Care and Care Leavers
	Item 12 - Appendix 1 - Update on Mind Of My Own MOMO App - Corporate Parenting Panel 18 Sept 2017

	13 Independent Reviewing Service Annual Report 2017/2018
	Item 13 - Appendix A - Independent Reviewing Service Annual Report 2017-2018

	14 Children in Care with Education Health and Care Plans (EHCP) exclusions

